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Letter to Shareholders

Dear Shareholders:

A. O. Smith had an exceptional year in 2023
resulting in record sales and record earnings. 
We worked diligently to strengthen our customer
relationships by providing new, innovative 
product offerings to meet market needs. Over
the past couple of years, we navigated through
marketplace disruptions with the support of
our suppliers, and as a result, the company is
stronger and well-positioned for the future. 
I am proud of the team’s ability to execute
our strategy of delivering on a differentiated
value proposition to our customers. 

Driven by continued strength in water heater
demand in North America, we delivered
$3.9 billion in record sales. Throughout the 
year, we remained tightly focused on product
development and innovation. Two of our newest
North America offerings, our gas tankless full
product line with patented X3® Scale Prevention
Technology and Veritus™ Air Source Commercial
Heat Pump Water Heater, are receiving positive 

reviews due to their high efficiency levels 
and energy savings. With changing regulations
and decarbonization goals on every priority list,
these are just a few examples of how A. O. Smith 
is finding sustainable solutions to help consumers
reduce their carbon footprint.

Our North America Water Treatment business
continues to grow through strategic acquisitions
and channel expansion. We introduced new
reverse osmosis systems with the highest
recovery rates globally, certified to reduce up
to 99% of 88 harmful contaminants including
lead, fluoride, asbestos, pesticides and 
pharmaceuticals. With increased consumer
awareness about water quality, we will leverage
our brand and industry presence to capture a
greater share in this large and growing market.

In China, our business grew 4% in local
currency despite the team having to navigate
a challenged Chinese economy. Stability 

Kevin Wheeler, Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer
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from our core products and our recently 
introduced kitchen products featuring AI-LiNK
connected services were key to our sales 
growth. These innovative bundled offerings 
are driving growth, increasing value and
providing an optimum consumer experience.

Our India operations experienced significant
growth in 2023, which we expect to continue.
We see long-term growth potential in India
as the country’s economy becomes more 
vibrant and consumers seek premium
products to elevate their lifestyles. Our new 
products in India represent 30% of sales in
2023, and our India business is growing at
approximately three times the market.

Our ESG efforts remain on track, and we continue 
to make progress toward our greenhouse gas 
(GHG) goals. To date, we have reduced our
GHG emissions intensity 25% from our 2019
baseline, and in 2024, we will announce our water 
stewardship goal. As a global water technology 
company, we are acutely aware of the importance
of — and access to — clean and hot water. This 
awareness drives our internal operations and has
been a pivotal part of setting our goal with regard 
to water stewardship and technological innovation.
The steps we have taken to date resulted in 
USA Today naming us one of America’s Climate 
Leaders in 2023 for our sustainability efforts.

Our team drives our success, and our Guiding 
Principles define who we are as a company. In 
this fast-changing world, it is more important
than ever that A. O. Smith is reliable and
respected to maintain our customers’ trust and 
confidence. Our purpose remains consistent:
manufacture innovative products, be a good 

place to work, contribute to the well-being of 
our communities, preserve our good name and 
continuously improve in everything we do. These 
activities are the foundation upon which we
deliver profitable growth to our shareholders.

In fact, for more than 30 consecutive years, we 
have increased our dividend to shareholders. 
In October, we announced a 7% increase 
in the dividend rate that resulted in a five-
year compound annual dividend growth rate 
of more than 10%. We also repurchased 
approximately 4.4 million shares of common 
stock for a total of $307 million in 2023.

As we celebrate our 150th milestone anniversary
in 2024, we thank our over 12,000 employees 
across the globe for their commitment to 
A. O. Smith. It is through their hard work 
and innovative focus that we can deliver on 
our promise to shareholders. As we look to 
the future, we assure you our passion for 
quality, inventive nature and commitment to 
our values and strategic growth will continue 
to generate the sustainable, profitable
returns you rightfully expect from us.

Thank you for your ongoing trust and support
of A. O. Smith.

i l

Kevin J. Wheeler
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer

We were deeply saddened by the sudden passing of Board member Earl Exum
this past year. He joined the A. O. Smith Board in April of 2022 and served on the
Audit Committee. Earl passed away on October 1, 2023. We are grateful for his 
service to the organization and extend our sympathy to his family and friends.

Sincerely, 

Kevin J Wheeler

 
e 

IN MEMORY
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PART 1

ITEM 1 – BUSINESS

As used in this annual report on Form 10-K, references to the “Company,” “A. O. Smith,” “AOS,” “we,” “us,” and “our”
refer to A. O. Smith and its consolidated subsu idiaries. The following discussion should be read in conjunction with our
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto under “Item 8 Financial Statements and Supplu ementary Data” in this
annual report on Form 10-K. Our company is comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World. Both
segments manufactff urt e and market comprehensive lines of residential and commercial gas and electric water heaters, boilers,
heat pumps, tanks and water treatment products. Both segments primarily manufactff urt e and market in their respective regions
of the world. Our Rest of World segment is primarily comprised of China, Europe and India.

NORTH AMERMM ICRR ACC

Sales in our North America segment accounted for approximately 75 percent of our total sales in 2023. This segment serves
residential and commercial end markets with a broad range of products including:

Water heatersrr . Our residential and commercial water heaters, primarily come in sizes ranging from 40 to 80 gallon models,
however, we also offeff r sizes as low as 2.5 gallon (point-of-use) and as high as 2,500 gallon products with varying effiff ciency
ranges. We offeff r electric, natural gas and liquid propane tank-type models as well as tankless (gas and electric), heat pump
and solar tank units. Typical applications for our water heaters include residences, restaurants, hotels, offiff ce buildings,
laundries, car washes, schools and small businesses.

Boilers. Our residential and commercial boilers range in size from 45,000 British Thermal Units (BTUs) to 6.0 million BTUs.
Boilers are closed loop water heating systems used primarily for space heating or hydronic heating. Our boilers are primarily
used in applications in commercial settings for hospitals, schools, hotels and other large commercial buildings while
residential boilers are used in homes, apartments and condominiums.

Water treatment products.With the acquisition of Aquasana, Inc. (Aquasana) in 2016 we entered the water treatment market.
We expanded our product offeff rings and geographic footprt int with the acquisitions of Hague Quality Water International
(Hague) in 2017, Water-Right, Inc. (Water-Right) in 2019, Master Water Conditioning Corporation (Master Water) in 2021,
Atlantic Filter Corporation (Atlantic Filter) in 2022 and Water Tec of Tucson, Inc (Water Tec) in 2023. Our water treatment
products range from point-of-entry water softeners, solutions for problem well water, whole-home water filtration products
and point-of-use carbonr and reverse osmosis products. We also offeff r a comprehensive line of commercial water treatment
and filtration products. Typical applications for our water treatment products include residences, restaurants, hotels and
offiff ces.

Othett r. In our North America segment, we also manufactff urt e expansion tanks, commercial solar water heating systems,
swimming pool and spa heaters, related products and parts.

A significant portion of our North America sales is derived from the replacement of existing products.

We believe we are the largest manufactff urt er and marketer of water heaters in North America with a leading share in both the
residential and commercial portions of the market. We expanded our presence in North America with our acquisition of Giant
Factories, Inc., (Giant) a Canada-based manufactff urt er of residential and commercial water heaters, which we acquired in late
2021. In the commercial portions of the market for both water heating and space heating, we believe our comprehensive
product lines and our high-effiff ciency products give us a competitive advantage. Our wholesale distribution channel, where
we sell our products primarily under the A. O. Smith and State brands, includes more than 900 independent wholesale
plumbing distributors serving residential and commercial end markets. We also sell our residential water heaters through the
retail and maintenance, repair and operations (MRO) channels. In the retail channel, our customers include four of the six
largest national hardware and home center chains, including a long-standing exclusive relationship with Lowe’s where we
sell A. O. Smith branded products.

Our Lochinvar brand is one of the leading residential and commercial boiler brands in the U.S. Approximately 40 percent of
Lochinvar branded sales consist of residential and commercial water heaters while the remaining 60 percent of Lochinvar
branded sales consist primarily of boilers and related parts. Our commercial boiler distribution channel is primarily
comprised of manufacff turer representative firms with the remainder of our Lochinvar branded products being distributed
through wholesale channels.

We sell our A. O. Smith branded water treatment products through Lowe's and Amazon. Our Aquasana branded products are
primarily sold directly to consumers through e-commerce channels. Our water softener products and problem well water
solutions, which include the Hague, Water-Right, Master Water, Atlantic Filter, and Water Tec brands are sold through water
quality dealers and contractors. Our water softener products are also sold through home center retail chains.
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Our energy-effiff cient product offeff rings continue to be a sales driver for our business. Our condensing commercial water
heaters and boilers continue to be an option for commercial customers looking for high-effiff ciency water and space heating
with a short payback period through energy savings. We offeff r residential heat pumps, condensing tank-type and tankless
water heaters in North America, as well as other higher effiff ciency water heating solutions to round out our energy-efficff ient
product offeff rings. We recently launched our newly designed ADAPT condensing gas tankless water heater and VERITUS air
source commercial heat pump water heater to align with greenhouse gas emission reduction trends across the U.S.

We sell our products in highly competitive markets. We compete in each of our targeted market segments based on product
design, reliabia lity, quality of products and services, advanced technologies, energy effiff ciency, maintenance costs and price.
Our principal water heating and boiler competitors in North America include Rheem, Bradford White, Rinnai, Aerco and
Navien. Numerous other manufactff urt ing companies also compete. Our principal water treatment competitors in the U.S. are
Culligan, Kinetico, Pentair, Franklin Electric and Ecowater as well as numerous regional assemblers.

REST OF WORLOO D

Sales in our Rest of World segment accounted for approximately 25 percent of our total sales in 2023, a majoa rity of which
was in China. We have operated in China for nearly 30 years. In that time, we have establa ished A. O. Smith brand recognition
in the residential and commercial markets. We manufacff ture and market residential water heater and water treatment producd ts,
primarily incorporating reverse osmosis technology, and commercial water treatment products. The Chinese water heater
market is predominantly comprised of electric wall-hung, gas tankless, combi-boiler, heat pump and solar water heaters. We
believe we are one of the market leaders of water heaters and reverse osmosis water treatment products to the residential
market in China in dollar terms. We also design and market kitchen products (range hoods, cooktops, steam ovens, and
dishwashers) in China.

We sell our products in approximately 9,900 points of sale in China, of which approximately 4,600 are retail outlets in tier
one through tier three cities and approximately 1,800 exclusively sell our products. We also sell our products through e-
commerce channels. Our primaryrr competitors in China in the water heater market segment are Haier, Midea, and Rinnai. Our
principal competitors in the water treatment market are Angel, Midea, Trulr iva, and Xiaomi.

In 2008, we establa ished a sales offiff ce in India and began importing products specifically designed for India. We began
manufactff urt ing water heaters in India in 2010 and water treatment products in 2015. We continue to expand our producd t
offeff rings and sales in this country, primarily through wholesale, e-commerce and retail channels. Our primary competitors in
India are Racold, Bajaa ja and Havells in the water heater market and Eureka Forbes, Kent and Hindustan Unilever in the water
treatment market.

We also sell water heaters in the European and Middle and Far Eastern markets and water treatment products in Vietnam, all
of which combined comprised less than 13 percent of total Rest of World sales in 2023.

RAWMATERIALS

Raw materials for our manufacff turing operations, primarily consisting of steel, are generally availabla e in adequate quantities.
A portion of our customers are contractuat lly obligated to accept price changes based on fluctuations in steel prices. There has
been volatility in steel costs over the last several years.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

To improve our competitiveness by generating new products and processes, we conduct research and development at our
Corporate Technology Center in Milwaukee, Wisconsin, our Global Engineering Center in Nanjing, China, and our operating
locations. Our total expenditures for research and development in 2023, 2022 and 2021 were $97.5 million, $89.0 million and
$94.2 million, respectively.

PATENTS AND TRADERR MARKS

We invest, own and use in our businesses various trademarks, trade names, patents, trade secrets and licenses. We monitor
our intellectuat l property for infringements. Although we believe our trademarks, trade names, patents, trade secrets, and
licenses to constitute a valuable asset in the aggregate, we do not regard our business as being materially dependent on any
single trademark, trade name, patent, trade secret, license or any group of related such rights. Our trade name is important
with respect to our products, particularly in China, India, and North America.
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HUMAN CAPITAL

We employed approximately 12,000 employees as of December 31, 2023 with approximately 7,000 in North America and
5,000 in Rest of World. A small portion of our workforce in the U.S. is represented by a labora union, while outside the U.S.,
we have employees in certain countries that are represented by employee representative organizations, such as an employee
association, union, or works council.

Our Guiding Principli es and Values. The foundation of how we conduct business and interact with our employees is outlined
in A. O. Smith Corporation’s Guiding Principles and our Statement of Values. These principles and values help to shape how
we hire, train and treat our employees, emphasizing teamwork and promoting diversity in seeking our objectives. We believe
that our Guiding Principles and Values shape the critical elements of our effoff rt to attract, retain and develop talent.

Culture and Emplm oyee Engagement. We conduct a Global Employee Engagement Survey on a biannual basis. This third
party managed survey measures employees’ level of engagement against external norms and provides us with actionabla e
feedbad ck that drives improvement priorities. Participation in our most recent survey in 2022 was 97 percent, which we
believe reflects our employees’ desire to share their perspectives and a commitment to continuous improvement. Survey
results help shape action plans to further improve our culturt e and we will conduct the survey again in 2024.

Diversirr ty and Inclusion. As reflected in our Guiding Principles, we strive to create a workplkk ace where people from diverse
backgrounds can thrive and achieve their fullest potential. A. O. Smith’s commitment to this objective starts at the top with
its Board of Directors, which is 44 percent diverse. A. O. Smith monitors the gender and racial composition of its workforce
in the U.S. at various levels within the organization, and also tracks pay equity on an ongoing basis.

Compensation and Benefite s.tt We provide what we believe is a robust total compensation program designed to be market-
competitive and internally equitabla e to attract, retain, motivate and reward a high-performance workforce. Regular internal
and external analysis is performed to ensure this market alignment. In addition to salaries, these programs, which vary by
country, can include annual perforff mance-based bonuses, stock-based compensation awards, retirement plans with employee
matching opportunities, health benefits, health savings and flexible spending accounts, paid time off,ff family leave, and tuition
assistance, among others.

Training and Developmo ent. We provide all employees with a wide range of profesff sional development experiences, both
formal and informal, to help them achieve their full potential. All of our salaried employees are given formal development
plans. Some of the formal development programs that employees have access to include early-career leadership development
programs, front-line leadership development programs, continuous improvement skill-building programs, core process
technology councils and tuition reimbursement for degree programs or trade schools. To encourage additional career
development, in 2023, all our salaried employees worldwide had at least one career conversation with their manager.
Globally, all offiff ce and profesff sional employees also have formal performance reviews and development plans with a focus on
learning by doing. We expect our managers to work closely with their employees to ensure performance feedbad ck and to
conduct development discussions on a regular basis.

Safetff y.tt The safety of our people is always at the forefront of what we do. We provide safety training in our production
facilities, designed to empower our employees with the knowledge and tools they need to make safe choices and mitigate
risks. In addition to traditional training, we use standardized signage and visual management throughout our facilities. Since
1954, we have annually awarded the Lloyd B. Smith President's Safety Award, which acknowledges an A. O. Smith facility
that demonstrates the most improvement over one year in the area of workplkk ace safety.

BACKLOG

Due to the short-cycle nature of our businesses, our operations do not normally sustain significant backlogs.
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GOVERNMENT REGULATIONS AND ENVIRONMENTAL MATTERS

Our operations, including the manufactff urt e, packaging, labea ling, storage, distribution, advertising and sale of our producd ts, are
subju ect to various federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations. In the U.S., many of our products are regulated by the
Department of Energy, the Consumer Product Safety Commission, and the Federal Trade Commission. State and local
governments, through laws, regulations, and building codes, also regulate our water heating and water treatment producd ts.
Whether at the federal, state, or local level, these laws are intended to improve energy effiff ciency and product safety, and
protect public health and the environment. In recent years, a number of states and local authorities have proposed or
implemented bans on gas-fired products in new construcr tion in an effoff rt to address greenhouse gas emissions. Similar laws
and regulations have been adopted by government authorities in other countries in which we manufactff urt e, distribute, and sell
our products. We offeff r a complete line of water and hydronic heating products, including electric-powered water heaters and
boilers, and we believe that any reduction in fossil fuel-powered products would be counterbar lanced by a corresponding
increase in demand for our non-fossil fuel powered products. We are confidff ent that our continued emphasis on product
design and innovation will keep us well positioned to deliver products demanded by customers, regardless of fuel source.

In addition, our operations are subju ect to federal, state and local environmental laws. We are subju ect to regulations of the U.S.
Environmental Protection Agency and the Occupau tional Health and Safety Administration and their counterparr rt state
agencies. Compliance with government regulations and environmental laws has not had and is not expected to have a
material effeff ct upon the capia tal expenditures, earnings, or competitive position of our company. See Item 3.

AVAILABLE INFORMATION

We maintain a website with the address www.aosmith.com. The information contained on our website is not included as a
part of,ff or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K. We make availabla e free of charge through our
website our Annual Report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to
these reports as soon as reasonabla y practical afteff r we have electronically filed such material with, or furnished such material
to, the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC). All reports we file with the SEC are also availabla e free of charge via
EDGAR through the SEC’s website at www.sec.gov.

We are committed to sound corporate governance and have documented our corporate governance practices by adopting the
A. O. Smith Corporate Governance Guidelines. The Corporate Governance Guidelines, Criteria for Selection of Directors,
Financial Code of Ethics, the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles, as well as the charters for the Audit, Personnel and
Compensation, Nominating and Governance and the Investment Policy Committees of the Board of Directors and other
corporate governance materials, may be viewed on the Company’s website. Any waiver of or amendments to the Financial
Code of Conduct or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles would be posted on this website; to date there have been none.
Copies of these documents will be sent to stockholders free of charge upon written request of the corporate secretaryrr at the
address shown on the cover page of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

We are also committed to growing our business in a sustainabla e and socially responsible manner consistent with our Guiding
Principles. This commitment has driven us to design, engineer and manufactff urt e highly innovative and effiff cient products in an
environmentally responsible manner that helps reduce energy consumption, conserve water and improve drinking water
quality and public health. Consistent with this commitment, we issue our sustainabia lity report biennially detailing our
company’s historic and current effoff rts. We issued our third report, the 2022 Environmental, Social and Governance ("ESG")
Report in December 2022, documenting our ESG activities over the past two years. This report details the positive impact of
our highly effiff cient products, highlights our company’s commitment to employees and the communities in which we operate,
and reports on our progress toward our greenhouse gas emissions reduction goal of 10 percent by 2025. We have made
significant progress toward our ESG emission reduction goal and prevented almost 500,000 metric tons of carbonr emissions
in 2021 through the sale of our high effiff ciency water heaters and boilers. Our scorecard reflecting our progress is availabla e on
our website. Our scorecard also provides information on our employee diversity, product stewardship, and recordabla e
incident rate, among other items. We have also achieved WAVE water stewardship verification and achieved our fourth
consecutive Energy Star Partner of the Year Award. Our ESG report and ESG scorecard are availabla e on our website and not
included as part of,ff or incorporated by reference into, this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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ITEM 1A – RISK FACTORS

In the ordinary course of our business, we face various strategic, operating, compliance and financial risks. These risks could
have an impact on our business, financial condition, operating results and cash flows. The risks set forth below are not an
exhaustive list of potential risks but reflect those that we believe to be material. You should carefulff ly consider the risk factors
set forth below and all other information contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, including the documents
incorporated by reference, before making an investment decision regarding our common stock. If any of the events
contemplated by the following risks were to actuat lly occur, then our business, financial condition, or results of operations
could be materially adversely affeff cted. As a result, the trading price of our common stock could decline, and you may lose all
or part of your investment.

Economic and Industry Risks

■ The effeff ctstt of global and regie onal economic conditions couldl have a material adverserr effeff ct on our business

A decline in economic activity, such as a recession or economic downturt n, in the U.S. and other regions in the world in which
we do business, could further adversely affeff ct consumer confidff ence and spending patterns which could result in decreased
demand for the products we sell, a delay in purchases, increased price competition, slower adoption of energy-effiff cient water
heaters and boilers, or high-quality water treatment producd ts, which could negatively impact our profitaff bia lity and cash flows.
Such deterioration in economic conditions could arise from many factors or fears including public health crises, political
instability or risk of government default. In addition, an increase in price levels generally or in particular industries (such as
the inflation in steel prices in 2021 and the recent inflation in other material and logistics costs), could result in a consumer
shiftff away from the products we offeff r, which could adversely affeff ct our revenues and, at the same time, increase our costs. A
deterioration in economic conditions also could negatively impact our vendors and customers, which could result in an
increase in bad debt expense, customer and vendor bankruptrr cies, interruptu ion or delay in supplu y of materials, or increased
material prices, which could negatively impact our ability to distribute, market and sell our products and our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.

■ The occurrence or threat of extrat ordinaryr events,tt including natural disaii sters,rr political disruii ptu ions, terroristii attacks,kk
public health issues, and acts of war, couldll signii fici antly disruii ptu production, or impacm t consumer spending

As a global company with a large international footprt int, we are subju ect to increased risk of damage or disruptrr ion to us and
our employees, facilities, supplu iers, distributors, or customers. Extraordinaryrr events, including natural disasters, resulting
from but not limited to climate change, political disrupr tions, terrorist attacks, public health issues, such as the COVID-19
pandemic, and acts of war may disruptr our business and operations and impact our supplu y chain and access to necessary raw
materials or could adversely affeff ct the economy generally, resulting in a loss of sales and customers. Any of these disruptr ions
or other extraordinaryrr events outside of our control that impact our operations or the operations of our supplu iers and key
distributors could affeff ct our business negatively, harming operating results.

Natural disasters and extreme weather conditions may disruprr t the productivity of our facilities. For example, two of our
manufactff urt ing plants are located within a floodplain that has experienced past flooding events. We also have other
manufactff urt ing facilities located in hurricane and earthquake zones. We maintain insurance coverage and have taken steps to
mitigate these physical risks related to natural disasters and extreme weather conditions. Although we installed an
approximately 7,000-foot-long berm, flood gates, and pumping stations around our Ashland City, Tennessee facility, our
largest manufactff urt ing facility, to mitigate the risk of flooding, there is still the potential for natural disasters and extreme
weather conditions to disruptr the productivity of our facilities.

Apart from the potential impact on our operations, these types of events also could negatively impact consumer spending in
the impacted regions or depending on the severity, globally, which could materially and adversely affeff ct our financial
condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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■ Our business couldl be adverserr ly impacm ted by changes in consumer purchasing behavior, consumer preferff ences,
technological changes, and marketkk trends

Consumer prefeff rences for producd ts and the methods in which they purchase products are constantly changing based on,
among other factors, cost, perforff mance, convenience, environmental and social concerns and perceptions. Consumer
purchasing behavior may shiftff the product mix in the markets in which we participate or result in a shiftff to other distribution
channels, for example e-commerce. Consumer preferff ences and broader trends, such as decarbonir zation and electrification
effoff rts in response to climate change, may result in reduced demand for gas or fossil fuel-powered products and increased
demand for higher effiff ciency producd ts and/or more electric powered products. In addition, technologies are ever changing.
Our ability to respond to these trends, timely transition our product portfolff io, develop new and innovative products, and
acquire and protect the necessary intellectuat l property rights is essential to our continued success, but cannot reasonabla y be
assured. It is possible that we will not be able to develop new technologies, products or distribution channels, or do so on a
timely basis, to align with consumer purchasing behavior and consumer preferff ences, which could materially and adversely
affeff ct our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

■ Our operations couldll be adverserr ly impacm ted by material and component price volatility,yy as well as supplu ier
concentration

The market prices for certain materials and components we purchase, primarily steel, have been volatile. In recent years we
have also experienced inflation-related increases in our transportation and other costs. Significant increases in the cost of any
of the key materials and components we purchase would increase our cost of doing business and ultimately could lead to
lower operating earnings if we are not able to recover these cost increases through price increases to our customers.
Historically, there has been a lag in our ability to recover increased material costs from customers, and that lag, could
negatively impact our profitaff bia lity. In some cases, we are dependent on a limited number of supplu iers for some of the raw
materials and components we require in the manufactff urt ing of our products. A significant disruptrr ion or termination of the
supplu y from one of these supplu iers could delay sales or increase costs which could result in a material adverse effeff ct on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

■ Because we participati e in marketkk stt that are highli yll competitive, our revenues and earnings couldl decline as we respond to
competition

We sell all of our products in highly competitive and evolving markets. We compete in each of our targeted markets based on
product design, reliability, quality of products and services, advanced technologies, product performance, maintenance costs
and price. Some of our competitors may have greater financial, marketing, manufactff urt ing, research and development and
distribution resources than we have; others may invest little in technology or product development but compete on price and
the rapia d replication of featurt es, benefits, and technologies, and some are increasingly expanding beyond their existing
manufactff urt ing or geographic footprt ints. New technologies and new competitors have developed and continue to develop in
certain markets in which we participate, such as gas tankless and heat pump technologies in North America. While we design
and manufactff urt e these and other products, we cannot assure that our products will continue to compete successfulff ly with
those of our current competitors and new market participants and it is possible that we will not be able to retain our customer
base or improve or maintain our profitff margins on sales to our customers. There is also increasing use of data analytics,
machine learning, and artificial intelligence software, which our competitors may be able to use more effeff ctively or
implement more successfulff ly than we are able to do. Failure to adapt to the evolving competitive environment could
materially and adversely affeff ct our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

■ Because approximatelyll 22 percent of our sales in 2023 were attributable to China, adverserr economic conditions or
changes in consumer behavior in China couldl impacm t our business

Our sales in China increased four percent in local currency in 2023 compared to 2022. Our 2022 sales in China were
impacted by lower consumer demand driven by COVID-19 related disruptr ions. We derive a subsu tantial portion of our sales in
China from premium-tier products. Changes in consumer preferff ences and purchasing behaviors including preferff ences for e-
commerce and manufacff turer emphasis on brand ecosystems and connectivity, weakening consumer confidff ence and
sentiment, as well as economic uncertainty, sociopolitical and demographic risks, and increased competition from Chinese-
based companies may prompt Chinese consumers to postpone purchases, choose lower-priced products or different
alternatives, or lengthen the cycle of replacement purchases. Further deterioration in the Chinese economy may adversely
affeff ct our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Business, Operational, and Strategic Risks

■ We sell our products and operate outsitt de the U.S., and to a lesser extent, rely on imporm ts and exports, which maya present
additional riskii skk to our business

Approximately 33 percent of our sales in 2023 were attributable to products sold outside of the U.S., primarily in China and
Canada, and to a lesser extent in Europe and India. We also have operations and business relationships outside the U.S. that
comprise a portion of our manufactff urt ing, supplu y, and distribution. Approximately 5,000 of our 12,000 employees as of
December 31, 2023 were located in China. At December 31, 2023, approximately $292 million of cash and marketable
securities were held by our foreign subsu idiaries, subsu tantially all of which were located in China. International operations
generally are subju ect to various risks, including: political, religious, and economic instability; local labora market conditions;
new or increased tariffs or other trade restrictions, or changes to trade agreements; the impact of foreign government
regulations, actions or policies; the effeff cts of income taxes; governmental expropriation; the changes or imposition of
statutt oryrr restrictions which prohibit repatriation of cash; the imposition or increases in withholding and other taxes on
remittances and other payments by foreign subsu idiaries; labora relations problems; the imposition of environmental or
employment laws, or other restrictions or actions by foreign governments; and differences in business practices. Unfavorable
changes in the political, regulatory,rr or trade climate, diplomatic relations, or government policies, particularly in relation to
countries where we have a presence, including Canada, China, India and Mexico, could have a material adverse effeff ct on our
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows or our ability to repatriate funds to the U.S.

■ A material loss, cancellation, reduction, or delaya in purchases by one or more of our largest customersrr couldll harm our
business

Sales to our five largest customers represented approximately 42 percent of our sales in 2023. We expect that our customer
concentration will continue for the foreseeable future. Our concentration of sales to a relatively small number of customers
makes our relationships with each of these customers important to our business. We cannot assure that we will be able to
retain our largest customers. Some of our customers may shiftff their purchases to our competitors in the future. Our customers
may experience financial instability, affeff cting their ability to make or pay for future purchases. Further, a customer may be
acquired by a customer of a competitor which could result in our loss of that customer. The loss of one or more of our largest
customers, any material reduction or delay in sales to these customers, or our inability to successfulff ly develop relationships
with additional customers could have a material adverse effeff ct on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

■ A portion of our business couldl be adverserr ly affeff cted by a decline in Northtt American new residential or commercial
construction or a decline in reple acement-related volume of water heatersrr and boilers, including a decline in demand for
commercial spaces

Residential new construcr tion activity in North America and industry-rr wide replacement-related volume of water heaters had
growth in 2023 afteff r a decline in 2022. New residential housing starts in the U.S. are projected to be approximately flat in
2024 compared to 2023. Commercial construcr tion activity in North America grew in 2023, although at a slower rate than
2022. We believe that the significant majoa rity of the markets we serve are for the replacement of existing products, and
residential water heater replacement volume have been strong. As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, businesses and
commercial spaces have experienced and may experience in the future, fluctuation in demand and in occupau ncy that may
reduce demand for our products, and commercial sectors, such as the restaurant and hospitality industries in which we have
customers, may experience long-term shiftsff in consumer behavior which could negatively impact demand or capacity and
may not return to pre-pandemic levels. In addition, the acceptance of remote work arrangements could negatively impact
demand for commercial construcr tion. Changes in the replacement volume and in the construcrr tion market in North America
could negatively affeff ct us.

■ An inability to adequatelyll maintain our infon rmation systyy ems and their security,yy as well as to protect data and othett r
confidff endd tial infon rmation, couldl adverserr ly affeff ct our business and repute ation

In the ordinary course of business, we utilize information systems for day-to-day operations, to collect and store sensitive
data and information, including our proprietary and regulated business information and personally identifiaff bla e information of
our customers, supplu iers and business partners, as well as personally identifiaff bla e information about our employees. Our
information systems are susceptible to outages due to system failures, cybersecurity threats, failures on the part of third-party
information system providers, natural disasters, power loss, telecommunications failures, viruses, fraud, theft,ff malicious
actors or breaches of security. Like many companies, we, and some third parties upon which we rely, have experienced
cybersecurity incidents and attacks on information technology networks and systems, products and services in the past but, to
date, none have resulted in a material breach or had a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows. We may experience such incidents and attacks in the future, potentially with increasing frequency
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from increasingly sophisticated cyber threats. In addition, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, remote work and remote
access to our systems have increased, which may heighten these risks. Use of artificff ial intelligence software may also create
risks from unintentional disclosure of proprietary, confidff ential, personal or otherwise sensitive information. Although we
have a response plan in place in the event of a data breach and we have an active program to maintain and improve data
security and address these risks and uncertainties by implementing and improving internal controls, security technologies,
insurance programs, network and data center resiliency and recovery processes, a successfulff attack in the future could result
in operations failure or breach of security that could lead to disruptr ions of our business activities and the loss or disclosure of
both our and our customers’ financial, product and other confidff ential information and could result in regulatoryrr actions,
significant expense and litigation and have a material adverse effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows and our reputation.

■ Our international operations are subject to riskii skk related to foreigngg currencies

We have a significant presence outside of the U.S., primarily in China and Canada and to a lesser extent Europe, Mexico, and
India, and thereforff e, hold assets, including $197 million of cash and marketable securities denominated in Chinese renminbi,
incur liabia lities, earn revenues and pay expenses in a variety of currencies other than the U.S. dollar. The financial statements
of our foreign subsu idiaries are translated into U.S. dollars in our consolidated financial statements. Furthermore, typically our
products are priced in foreign countries in local currencies. As a result, we are subju ect to risks associated with operating in
foreign countries, including fluctuations in currency exchange rates and interest rates, or global exchange rate instability or
volatility that strengthens the U.S. dollar against foreign currencies. An increase in the value of the U.S. dollar relative to the
local currencies of our foreign markets, particularly in China, has negatively affeff cted our sales, profitaff bia lity, and cash and
cash equivalents balances and could have such effecff ts in the future. In 2023, the change in foreign currencies negatively
impacted our sales and cash and cash equivalents by approximately $56 million and $13 million, respectively. In addition to
currency translation risks, we incur a currency transaction risk whenever one of our subsu idiaries enters into a purchase or sale
transaction using a currency different from the operating subsu idiaries’ functional currency. The majoa rity of our foreign
currency transaction risk results from sales of our producd ts in Canada, a portion of which we manufactff urt e in the U.S., and to
a lesser extent from component purchases in Europe and India and payroll in Mexico. These risks may adversely impact our
reported sales and profitff s in the future or negatively impact revenues and earnings translated from foreign currencies into
U.S. dollars.

■ Our business maya be adverserr ly impacm ted by product defee ctstt

Product defects can occur through our own product development, design and manufactff urt ing processes or through our reliance
on third parties for component design and manufactff urt ing activities. We may incur various expenses related to product
defects, including product warranty costs, product liabia lity and recall or retrofitff costs. While we maintain a reserve for
product warranty costs based on certain estimates and our knowledge of current events and actions, our actuat l warranty costs
may exceed our reserve, resulting in current period expenses and a need to increase our reserves for warranty charges. In
addition, product defects and recalls may diminish the reputation of our brand. Further, our inability to cure a producd t defect
could result in the failure of a product line or the temporaryrr or permanent withdrawal from a product or market. Any of these
events may have a material adverse impact on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

■ Potential acquisiii tions couldll use a signii fici ant portion of our capia tal and we maya not successfulff ly integre ate future
acquisiii tions or operate them profitaff blyll or achieve strat tegie c objectives

We will continue to evaluate potential acquisitions, and we could use a significant portion of our availabla e capital to fund
future acquisitions. We may not be able to successfulff ly integrate future acquired businesses or operate them profitff ably or
accomplish our strategic objectives for those acquisitions. If we complete any future acquisitions in new geographies, our
unfamff iliarity with relevant regulations and market conditions may impact our ability to operate them profitaff bla y or achieve
our strategic objectives for those acquisitions. Our level of indebtedness may increase in the future if we finance acquisitions
with debt, which would cause us to incur additional interest expense and could increase our vulnerabia lity to general adverse
economic and industryrr conditions and limit our ability to service our debt or obtain additional financing. The impact of future
acquisitions may have a material adverse effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
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Legal, Regulatory, and Governance Risks

■ Changes in regule ations or standards, such as those associated with climate change, couldll adverserr ly affeff ct our business

Our products are subju ect to a wide variety of statutt ory,rr regulatory,rr codes and industryrr standards and requirements related to,
among other items, energy and water effiff ciency, environmental emissions, labea ling and safety. For example, the Department
of Energy (DOE) has adopted a new effiff ciency rule for commercial water heaters that will take effeff ct in 2026. In addition,
there are proposed federal rule makings that would require our residential water heater product line to be more energy
effiff cient as well as the establa ishment of a national drinking water standard regulating per- and poly-fluoroalkylkk subsu tances
(PFAS), which could affeff ct the demand for our water filtration products. There are also a number of federal, foreign, state
and local governments adopting laws, regulations and codes in response to climate change that require a transition to non-
fossil fuel based sources of energy production as well as significantly reducing or eliminating the on-site combustion of fossil
fuels in the building sector, such as limiting or prohibiting the deliveryrr of natural gas in new construcrr tion. We believe our
products are currently effiff cient, safe and environment-friendly. However, a significant change to regulatoryrr or code
requirements that promote a transition to alternative energy sources as a replacement for gas, or a significant shiftff in industryrr
standards, could subsu tantially increase manufactff urt ing costs, capital expenditures, transportation costs and raw material costs,
alter distribution channels, attract new competitors, impact the size and timing of demand for our products, affeff ct the types of
products we are able to offeff r or put us at a competitive disadvantage, any of which could harm our business and have a
material adverse effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.

■ We are subject to U.S. and global laws and regule ations covering our domestic and international operations that couldll
adverserr ly affeff ct our business and results of operations

Due to our global operations, we are subju ect to many laws governing international relations, including those that prohibit
improper payments to government offiff cials and restrict where we can do business, what information or products we can
supplu y to certain countries and what information we can provide to a non-U.S. government, including but not limited to the
Foreign Corruptu Practices Act and the U.S. Export Administration Act. Violations of these laws may result in criminal
penalties or sanctions that could have a material adverse effeff ct on our financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows.

■ Our Environmental, Social, and Governance (ESGEE )G commitments couldll result in additional costs,tt and our inability to
achieve them couldl have an adverserr impacm t on our repute ation and perforff mance

We periodically communicate our strategies, commitments and targets related to ESG matters, including carbonr emissions,
water usage, diversity and inclusion, and human rights through the issuance of our ESG report. Although we intend to meet
these strategies, commitments and targets and are committed to advancing sustainabla e innovations in our industry,rr we may be
unabla e to achieve them due to impacts on resources, operational costs, and technological advancements. Failure to meet these
sustainabia lity requirements or targets could adversely impact our reputation as well as the demand for our producd ts and
adversely affeff ct our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, standards and processes for measuring
and reporting carbonr emissions and other sustainabia lity metrics may change over time, result in inconsistent data, or result in
significant revisions to our strategies, commitments and targets, or our ability to achieve them. Any scrutiny of our carbonr
emissions or other sustainabia lity disclosures or our failure to achieve related strategies, commitments and targets could
negatively impact our reputation or performance.

■ Our results of operations maya be negate ivelyll impacm ted by product liability lawsuits and clail ms

Our products expose us to potential product liabia lity risks that are inherent in the design, manufactff urt e, sale and use of our
products. While we currently maintain what we believe to be suitable product liabia lity insurance, we cannot be certain that we
will be able to maintain this insurance on acceptabla e terms, that this insurance will provide adequate protection against
potential liabia lities or that our insurance providers will be able to ultimately pay all insured losses. In addition, we self-iff nsure
a portion of product liability claims. A series of successfulff claims against us could materially and adversely affeff ct our
reputation and our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.

■ We have signii fici ant goodwill and indefine ite-lived intangible assets and an impaim rment of our goodwill or indefine ite-lived
intangible assets couldl cause a decline in our net worthtt

Our total assets include significant goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Our goodwill results from our acquisitions,
representing the excess of the purchase prices we paid over the fair value of the net tangible and intangible assets we
acquired. We assess whether there have been impairments in the value of our goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets
during the fourth quarter of each calendar year or sooner if triggering events warrant. If future operating performance at our
businesses does not meet expectations, we may be required to reflect non-cash charges to operating results for goodwill or
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indefinite-lived intangible asset impairments. The recognition of an impairment of a significant portion of goodwill or
indefinite-lived intangible assets would negatively affeff ct our results of operations and total capitalization, the effeff ct of which
could be material. A significant reduction in our stockholders’ equity due to an impairment of goodwill or indefinite-lived
intangible assets may affeff ct our ability to maintain the debt-to-capital ratio required under our existing debt arrangements.
We have identififf ed the valuation of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets as a critical accounting policy. See
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Critical Accounting Policies—
Goodwill and Indefinite-lived Intangible Assets” included in Item 7 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

■ Certain membersrr of the founding family of our company and trusts for their benefite have the ability to influn ence all
matters requiring stockholdel r apprpp oval

We have two classes of common equity: our Common Stock and our Class A Common Stock. The holders of Common Stock
currently are entitled, as a class, to elect only one-third of our Board of Directors. The holders of Class A Common Stock are
entitled, as a class, to elect the remaining directors. Certain members of the founding family of our company and trusr ts for
their benefit (Smith Family) have entered into a voting trusr t agreement with respect to shares of our Class A Common Stock
and shares of our Common Stock they own. As of December 31, 2023, through the voting trusrr t, these members of the Smith
Family own approximately 66.2 percent of the total voting power of our outstanding shares of Class A Common Stock and
Common Stock, taken together as a single class, and approximately 96.9 percent of the voting power of the outstanding
shares of our Class A Common Stock, as a separate class. Due to the differences in the voting rights between shares of our
Common Stock (one-tenth of one vote per share) and shares of our Class A Common Stock (one vote per share), the Smith
Family voting trusr t is in a position to control to a large extent the outcome of matters requiring a stockholder vote, including
the adoption of amendments to our certificff ate of incorporation or bylaws or approval of transactions involving a change of
control. This ownership position may increase if other members of the Smith Family enter into the voting trusr t agreement,
and the voting power relating to this ownership position may increase if shares of our Class A Common Stock held by
stockholders who are not parties to the voting trusr t agreement are converted into shares of our Common Stock. The voting
trusrr t agreement provides that, in the event one of the parties to the voting trusr t agreement wants to withdraw from the trusrr t or
transferff any of its shares of our Class A Common Stock, such shares of our Class A Common Stock are automatically
exchanged for shares of our Common Stock held by the trusr t to the extent availabla e in the trusr t. In addition, the trusrr t will
have the right to purchase the shares of our Class A Common Stock and our Common Stock proposed to be withdrawn or
transferff red from the trusr t. As a result, the Smith Family members that are parties to the voting trusr t agreement have the
ability to maintain their collective voting rights in our company even if certain members of the Smith Family decide to
transferff their shares.

ITEM 1B – UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS

None.
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ITEM 1C – CYBERSECURITY
Cybersecurity Governance

We recognize the importance of maintaining the safety and security of our systems and data and have a holistic process for
overseeing and managing cybersecurity and related risks. This process is supporu ted by both our management and our Board
of Directors.

Our Chief Information Offiff cer (CIO) oversees our information systems and cybersecurity function and reports to our Chief
Executive Offiff cer (CEO). She has over 30 years of experience in leading information systems management, strategy, and
operational execution, including incident management, prevention, and response. Our Senior Director of Global Information
Security (ISD) reports to our CIO and is responsible for the protection and defense of our networks and systems and
managing cybersecurity risk. He has over 20 years of experience in managing cybersecurity and related risks, including
threat identificff ation, incident response, and defense strategies. Our CIO and ISD are supporu ted by a direct and a cross-
functional team of profesff sionals with broad experience and expertise in threat assessment and detection, mitigation
technologies, training, incident response, and regulatoryrr compliance.

Our Board of Directors is responsible for overseeing our enterprise risk management activities in general, which includes our
management of information and cybersecurity risk. The full Board receives an update on our cyber risk management process
and trends related to cybersecurity at least annually. The Audit Committee of the Board assists the full Board in its oversight
of cybersecurity risks and as part of its oversight, the Audit Committee receives reports from management on information
systems and security at each meeting, including metrics and controls, and other items from time to time such as risk
assessments, security software, and incident response plans.

We have also establa ished a committee of our executive leadership team to consider cybersecurity risk, mitigation strategies,
and to consider trends and developments in managing the risk. Our CIO and ISD participate on this committee, which meets
regularly. We have an established incident response plan led by our CIO and ISD to assess, respond, and report in the event
of a cybersecurity incident. Depending on the nature and severity of the incident, the plan requires escalating notificff ations up
to our CEO and our Board.

Cybersecurity Riskii Management

Our cybersecurity risk management program is integrated into our overall enterprise risk management program, and shares
common methodologies, reporting channels and governance processes that apply across the enterprise risk management
program in a similar fashion to other legal, compliance, strategic, operational, and financial risk areas. Our program is guided
by cybersecurity frameworks, such as the National Institutt e of Standards and Technology Cybersecurity Framework (NIST
CSF), although we also look to other standards to help us identify, assess, and manage cybersecurity risks relevant to our
business.

Our approach to cybersecurity risk management includes:
• Periodic risk assessments designed to help identifyff significant or potentially material cybersecurity risks to our

critical systems, information, and our broader enterprise information technology (IT) environment;
• The use of external service providers, where appropriate, to assess, test or otherwise assist with aspects of our

security controls;
• A multi-layered defense and continuous monitoring strategy employing various tools and testing, and incorporating

lessons learned from our defense and monitoring effoff rts to help prevent future attacks;
• Cybersecurity awareness training, including interactive simulations and tabla etop exercises for our employees,

incident response personnel, senior management, and our Board;
• Regular testing by our Internal Audit function of controls related to our financial information systems; and
• Inforff mation security assessments conducted on third parties with whom we share sensitive electronic data against

establa ished cybersecurity frameworks;

While we have experienced cybersecurity incidents in the past, to-date none have materially affeff cted the Company or our
financial position, results of operations and/or cash flows. We continue to invest in cybersecurity and the resiliency of our
networks, including our controls and processes, all of which are designed in an effoff rt to protect our IT systems and
infrastructurt e, and the information they contain. For more information regarding the risks we face from cybersecurity threats,
please see “Risk Factors – Business, Operational, and Strategic Risks.”
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ITEM 2 – PROPERTIES

Properties utilized by us at December 31, 2023 were as follows:

North America

In this segment, we have 22 manufactff urt ing plants located in 12 states and two non-U.S. countries, of which 18 are owned
directly by us or our subsu idiaries and four are leased from outside parties. The terms of leases in effeff ct at December 31, 2023,
expire between 2025 and 2028.

Rest of World

In this segment, we have five manufactff urt ing plants located in three non-U.S. countries, of which four are owned directly by
us or our subsu idiaries and one is leased from outside parties. The terms of leases in effeff ct at December 31, 2023, expire in
2035.

Corporate and Generalp

We consider our plants and other physical properties to be suitable, adequate, and of sufficient productive capacity to meet
the requirements of our business. Our manufactff urt ing plants operate at varying levels of utilization depending on the type of
operation and market conditions. The executive offiff ces of the Company, which are leased, are located in Milwaukee,
Wisconsin.

ITEM 3 – LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

We are involved in various unresolved legal actions, administrative proceedings and claims in the ordinary course of our
business involving product liabia lity, property damage, insurance coverage, exposure to asbestos and other subsu tances, patents
and environmental matters, including the disposal of hazardous waste. Although it is not possible to predict with certainty the
outcome of these unresolved legal actions or the range of possible loss or recovery, we believe, based on past experience,
adequate reserves and insurance availabia lity, that these unresolved legal actions will not have a material effeff ct on our
financial position or results of operations. A more detailed discussion of certain of these matters appears in Note 16,
“Commitments and Contingencies” of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

ITEM 4 – MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURES

Not applicable.
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Pursuant to General Instruction of G(3) of Form 10-K, the following is a list of our executive offiff cers which is included as an
unnumbered Item in Part I of this report in lieu of being included in our Proxy Statement for our 2024 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Samuel M. Carver (55) Senior Vice President – Global Operations 2021 to Present

Vice President – North America Manufacff turing 2011 to 2021

Various A. O. Smith Management Positions 2006 to 2011

Robert J. Heideman (57) Senior Vice President – Chief Technology Offiff cer 2013 to Present

Senior Vice President – Engineering & Technology 2011 to 2012

Various A. O. Smith Management Positions 2002 to 2011

D. Samuel Karge (49) Senior Vice President 2018 to Present

President – North America Water Treatment 2018 to Present

Vice President, Sales and Marketing – Zurn Industries (water
solutions manufacff turer)

2016 to 2018

Parag Kulkarni (56) Senior Vice President, International 2022 to Present

President - A. O. Smith India Water Producd ts Private Limited 2022 to Present

Managing Director - A. O. Smith India Water Producd ts
Private Limited

2015 to 2022

Charles T. Lauber (61) Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer 2019 to Present

Senior Vice President, Strategy and Corporate Development 2013 to 2019

Senior Vice President – Chief Financial Offiff cer – A. O. Smith
Water Products Company

2006 to 2012

Various A. O. Smith Management Positions 1999 to 2006

Stephen D. O'Brien (55) Senior Vice President 2022 to Present

President - Lochinvar, LLC 2022 to Present

Chief Operating Offiff cer – Lochinvar, LLC 2021 to 2022

Senior Vice President - Mitsubishi Electric Trane US 2015 to 2021

Mark A. Petrarca (60) Senior Vice President - Human Resources and Publu ic Affaff irs 2006 to Present

Vice President – Human Resources and Publu ic Affaff irs 2005 to 2006

Various A. O. Smith Management Positions 1999 to 2005

Jack Qiu (51) Senior Vice President 2020 to Present

President - A. O. Smith China 2020 to Present

Vice President - A. O. Smith China 2012 to 2020

Various A. O. Smith Management Positions 2003 to 2012

S. Melissa Scheppele (61) Senior Vice President - Chief Information Offiff cer 2020 to Present

Vice President and Chief Information Offiff cer - Triumph
Group (aerospace and defense business)

2016 to 2020

James F. Stern (61) Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary 2rr 007 to Present

Partner – Foley & Lardner LLP 1997 to 2007

Name (Age) Positions Held Period Position Was Held
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David R. Warren (60) Senior Vice President 2017 to Present

President and General Manager – North America Water
Heating

2017 to Present

Vice President – International 2008 to 2017

Various A. O. Smith Management Positions 1989 to 2008

Kevin J. Wheeler (64) Chairman 2020 to Present

President and Chief Executive Offiff cer 2018 to Present

President and Chief Operating Offiff cer 2017 to 2018

Senior Vice President 2013 to 2017

President and General Manager – North America, India and
Europe Water Heating

2013 to 2017

Various A. O. Smith Management Positions 1999 to 2013

Name (Age) Positions Held Period Position Was Held
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PART II

ITEM 5 – MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS ANDQ ,
ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIESQ

(a) Market Information. Our Common Stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol AOS. Our
Class A Common Stock is not listed. EQ Shareowner Services, P.O. Box 64874, St. Paul, Minnesota, 55164-0874
serves as the registrar, stock transferff agent and the dividend reinvestment agent for our Common Stock and Class A
Common Stock.

(b) Holders. As of January 31, 2024, the approximate number of stockholders of record of Common Stock and Class A
Common Stock were 503 and 136, respectively. The actuat l number of stockholders is greater than this number of
holders of record, and includes stockholders who are beneficial owners, but whose shares are held in street name by
brokers and other nominees. This number of stockholders of record also does not include stockholders whose shares
may be held in trusr t by other entities.

(c) Dividends. Dividends declared on the common stock are shown in Note 11, “Stockholders' Equity” of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements appearing elsewhere herein.

(d) Stock Repurchasesp . In 2023, the Board of Directors approved adding 7,500,000 shares of Common Stock to an
existing discretionary share repurchase authority. Under the share repurchase program, the Common Stock may be
purchased through a combination of Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan and discretionary purchases in accordance
with applicable securities laws. The number of shares purchased and the timing of the purchases will depend on a
number of factors, including share price, trading volume and general market conditions, as well as working capia tal
requirements, general business conditions and other factors, including alternative investment opportunities. The stock
repurchase authorization remains effeff ctive until terminated by our Board of Directors which may occur at any time,
subju ect to the parameters of any Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan that we may then have in effeff ct. In 2023, we
repurchased 4,377,000 shares at an average price of $70.03 per share and at a total cost of $306.5 million. As of
December 31, 2023, there were 3,501,462 shares remaining on the existing repurchase authorization. On January 26
2024, the Board of Directors approved adding 2,000,000 shares of common stock to the existing discretionary share
repurchase authority. Including the additional shares, we have 5,202,462 shares availabla e for repurchase as of the date
of the Board of Directors' approval. We intend to spend approximately $300 million to repurchase Common Stock in
2024 through a combination of 10b5-1 plans and open-market purchases.

(e) Performance Graphp . The following information in this Item 5 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K is not deemed to be
“soliciting material” or to be “fileff d” with the SEC or subju ect to Regulation 14A or 14C under the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 or to the liabia lities of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and will not be deemed to be
incorporated by reference into any filing under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934,
except to the extent we specificff ally incorporate it by reference into such a filing.
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The graph below shows a five-year comparison of the cumulative shareholder return on our Common Stock with the
cumulative total return of the Standard & Poor’s (S&P) 500 Index, S&P 500 Select Industrials Index, which are published
indices.

Comparison of Five-Year Cumulative Total Return
From December 31, 2018 to December 31, 2023

Assumes $100 Invested with Reinvestment of Dividends

SMITH (A O) CORP S&P 500 INDEX S&P INDUSTRIALS INDEX

2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023
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Period Indexed Returns

Company/Indexp y 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/31/22 12/31/23
A. O. Smith Corporation 100.0 113.6 133.4 212.3 144.0 211.4
S&P 500 Index 100.0 131.5 155.7 200.4 164.1 207.2
S&P 500 Select Industrial Index 100.0 129.4 143.6 174.0 164.4 194.3

ITEM 6 – SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

Not applicable.
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ITEM 7 – MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF
OPERATRR IONS

OVERVIR EW

Our company is comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World. Our Rest of World segment is
primarily comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufactff urt e and market comprehensive lines of residential
and commercial gas, heat pump and electric water heaters, boilers, tanks, and water treatment products. Both segments
primarily manufactff urt e and market in their respective region of the world.

We saw improvement in our supplu y chain during 2022, particularly in the second half of the year, which continued through
2023. We remain in close contact with our supplu iers and logistics providers to resolve supplu y chain constraints as they arise.

We continue to seek acquisitions that enable geographic growth, expand our core business, and establa ish adjad cencies. We will
also continue to look for opportunities to add to our existing operations in high growth regions demonstrated by our previous
introductions of water treatment products in India and kitchen products including our recently introduced dishwashers and
steam ovens, in China. We also launched our internally designed and manufactff urt ed gas tankless water heaters in early 2024.
In addition we are expanding our commercial water heater capacity in preparation for the 2026 commercial regulatoryrr
change.

In our North America segment, we saw resilient demand in the residential water heater industryrr in 2023 afteff r three years of
uneven growth, primarily related to the impacts of COVID-19-related supplu y chain constraints. Proactive replacement
remained above historical levels in 2023 and we project that will continue in 2024. We believe that new home construcr tion
remains in a deficit and we expect it will be flat in 2024 compared to 2023. Considering these factors, we project 2024
industryrr residential unit volumes will be approximately flat afteff r approximately six percent growth in 2023. We believe that
commercial water heater industryrr volumes will grow low single digits in 2024 compared to 2023 as demand for commercial
electric water heaters greater than 55 gallon continues a positive trend toward pre-2022 levels. Sales of our boilers and water
treatment products were negatively impacted by elevated channel inventories in 2023. We believe that channel inventories
were at near normal levels at the end of 2023 for both product categories. We expect to see an eight to ten percent increase in
our sales of boilers in 2024 compared to 2023 as we continue to benefit from the transition to higher effiff ciency boilers. We
anticipate sales of our North America water treatment products will increase approximately ten to 12 percent in 2024,
compared to 2023, as we expect our sales to grow at approximately two times the market.

In our Rest of World segment, we saw a return to growth in China as our sales increased four percent in local currency in
2023. We project our sales in China will grow three to five percent in 2024 in local currency compared to 2023 driven by
innovative new products and resilient demand for our core products. Our guidance assumes that the currency translation
impact on sales will be minimal in 2024.

Combining all of these factors, we expect our 2024 consolidated sales to increase between three and five percent compared to
2023. Our guidance excludes the impacts from potential future acquisitions.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In this section, we discuss the results of our operations for 2023 compared with 2022. We discuss our cash flows and current
financial condition under “Liquidity and Capia tal Resources.” For a discussion related to 2022 compared with 2021, please
refer to Item 7 of Part II, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the Year Ended December 31, 2022, which was filed with the United States Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) on Februar ry 14, 2023, and is availabla e on the SEC's website at www.sec.gov.

Years Ended December 31,
(dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021
Net sales $ 3,852.8 $ 3,753.9 $ 3,538.9
Cost of products sold 2,368.0 2,424.3 2,228.0
Gross profitff 1,484.8 1,329.6 1,310.9
Gross profitff margin % 38.5 % 35.4 % 37.0 %

Selling, general and administrative expenses 727.4 670.9 701.4
Restrucrr turing and impairment expenses 18.8 — —
Interest expense 12.0 9.4 4.3
Other (income) expense-net (6.9) 425.6 (20.4)
Earnings before provision for income taxes 733.5 223.7 625.6
Provision for (benefitff from) income taxes 176.9 (12.0) 138.5
Net Earnings $ 556.6 $ 235.7 $ 487.1

Our sales in 2023 were $3,852.8 million, or 2.6 percent higher than 2022 sales of $3,753.9 million. Higher sales in 2023 were
driven by higher volumes of residential and commercial water heaters, which more than offsff et unfavff orable foreign currency
impacts of approximately $56 million, lower boiler sales and unfavff orable pricing in our North America segment.

Our gross profitff margin in 2023 of 38.5 percent increased compared to 35.4 percent in 2022. The higher gross profitff margin
in 2023 was primarily due to lower material costs.

Selling, general, and administrative (SG&A) expenses were $727.4 million in 2023, or $56.5 million higher than in 2022. The
increase in SG&A expenses was primarily due to higher employee costs, which includes management incentive expenses
related to higher earnings, and compensation increases. In 2022 SG&A included the recognition of an $11.5 million favorable
judgment against a competitor related to its infringement of one of our patents, which reduced SG&A expenses, and was
partially offsff et by a $4.3 million expense associated with a terminated acquisition.

Restructurt ing and impairment expenses in 2023 were $18.8 million, of which $15.6 million related to the sale of our business
in Turkey which was included in our Rest of World segment. Of the $18.8 million restructurt ing and impairment expenses,
$15.7 million was recorded in the Rest of World segment and $3.1 million in Corporate Expense.

Interest expense was $12.0 million in 2023, compared to $9.4 million in 2022. The increase in interest expense in 2023 was
primarily due to higher debt levels and interest rates.

Other (income) expense, net was income of $6.9 million in 2023 compared to expense of $425.6 million in 2022. The change
in Other (income) expense, net was primarily due to a reduction in pension expenses and pension settlement expense
associated with the termination of our defined benefit pension plan (the Plan). In 2022, we recorded a $417.3 million pension
settlement expense related to the termination of the Plan which represented over 95 percent of our pension plan liabia lity. The
service cost component of our pension expense is reflected in cost of products sold and SG&A expenses. All other
components of our pension expense (income) are reflected in other (income) expense-net.

Our effeff ctive income tax rate in 2023 was higher than our effeff ctive income tax rate in 2022 primarily due to the tax effeff cts of
the pension settlement expense associated with the termination of the Plan and a change in geographic earnings mix. We
estimate that our annual effeff ctive income tax rate for the full year of 2024 will be approximately 24 to 24.5 percent.

We are providing non-U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) measures (adjusted earnings, adjud sted
earnings per share (EPS), total segment earnings, adjud sted segment earnings, and adjud sted corporate expense) that exclude the
impact of restructurt ing and impairment expenses, pension settlement income and expenses, non-operating pension expenses,
income from a legal judgment and expenses associated with a terminated acquisition. Reconciliations from GAAP measures
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to non-GAAP measures are provided in the Non-GAAP Measures section below. We believe that the measures of adjud sted
earnings, adjud sted EPS, total segment earnings, adjud sted segment earnings, and adjud sted corporate expense provide usefulff
information to investors about our performance and allow management and our investors to better understand our
performance between periods without regard to items that we do not consider to be a component of our core operating
performance or recurring in nature.

Northtt America Segme ent

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Net Sales $ 2,922.9 $ 2,819.1
Segment Earnings 726.7 266.0
Segme ent Margin 24.9 % 9.4 %

Sales in our North America segment were $2,922.9 million in 2023, or $103.8 million higher than sales of $2,819.1 million in
2022. The increased sales in 2023 compared to the prior year were primarily driven by higher residential and commercial
water heater volumes, partially offsff et by lower volumes of boilers and unfavff orable pricing.

North America segment earnings were $726.7 million in 2023, or $460.7 million higher than segment earnings of $266.0
million in 2022. Segment margins were 24.9 percent and 9.4 percent in 2023 and 2022, respectively. Higher segment
earnings and margins in 2023 were primarily due to higher volumes of residential and commercial water heaters and lower
material costs that were partially offsff et by higher SG&A expenses. Additionally in 2022, we realized pre-tax pension
settlement expense of $346.8 million.

Adjud sted segment earnings and adjud sted segment margin in 2023 were $726.0 million and 24.8 percent, respectively which
exclude $0.7 million of pension settlement income. Adjud sted segment earnings and adjud sted segment margin in 2022 were
$611.0 million and 21.7 percent, respectively and exclude pension settlement expense of $346.8 million, pension expense of
$9.7 million and the recognition of the $11.5 million patent infringement judgment. We estimate our 2024 North America
segment margin will be approximately 24.5 to 25 percent.

Rest of Worldll Segme ent

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Net Sales $ 956.9 $ 965.8
Segment Earnings 83.4 96.3
Segme ent Margin 8.7 % 10.0 %

Sales in our Rest of World segment were $956.9 million in 2023, or $8.9 million lower than sales of $965.8 million in 2022.
The decrease in sales in 2023 was primarily driven by the approximately $44 million unfavff orable impact of foreign currency
translation, partially offsff et by favorable volumes in China, particularly in our water treatment and kitchen products.

Rest of World segment earnings in 2023 were $83.4 million compared to $96.3 million in 2022. Segment margins were 8.7
percent and 10.0 percent in 2023 and 2022, respectively. Lower segment earnings and segment margin in 2023 were
primarily driven by restructurt ing and impairment expenses of $15.7 million, of which $12.5 million was associated with the
sale of our business in Turkey.

Adjud sted segment earnings and adjud sted segment margin in 2023 were $99.1 million and 10.4 percent, respectively. Adjud sted
segment earnings and adjud sted segment margin in 2023 exclude restructurt ing and impairment expenses. We estimate our
2024 Rest of World segment margin will be approximately 10 percent.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Our working capia tal was $555.0 million at December 31, 2023 compared with $699.5 million at December 31, 2022.
Movements in working capia tal consisted of lower Cash and cash equivalents, and Marketable securities due to the paydown
of our Long-term debt and Trade payabla es. In addition, as of December 31, 2023, cash balances were negatively impacted by
$12.8 million due to changes in foreign currency. Cash and cash equivalents used to fund our operations are primarily
generated through operating activities and provided by our existing credit facilities. We believe our availabla e cash and
existing credit facilities are sufficient to cover our cash needs for the foreseeable future. We use a global cash pooling
arrangement, intercompany borrowing, and some local credit lines to meet funding needs and allocate capital resources
among various entities. We have historically made and anticipate future cash repatriations to the United States from certain
foreign subsu idiaries. In 2023, we repatriated approximately $100 million of cash from our foreign subsu idiaries through
dividends and approximately $200 million through our global cash pooling arrangement. We used the proceeds to pay down
outstanding debt balances.

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Cash provided by operating activities $ 670.3 $ 391.4
Cash (used in) provided by investing activities (24.1) 8.1
Cash used in financing activities (684.7) (430.8)

Cash provided by operating activities in 2023 was $670.3 million compared with $391.4 million during 2022. The increase in
operating cash flows in 2023 compared with the prior year is due to increased earnings and a more favorable working capital
contribution primarily related to lower inventoryrr levels and incentive payments. Our free cash flow in 2023 and 2022 was
$597.7 million and $321.1 million, respectively. We expect cash provided by operating activities to be between $640 million
and $690 million in 2024. We expect free cash flow to be between $525 million to $575 million in 2024. Free cash flow is a
non-GAAP measure and is described in more detail in the Non-GAAP Measures section below.

Our capital expenditures were $72.6 million in 2023 and $70.3 million in 2022. We project our 2024 capital expenditures
will be between $105 and $115 million and expect depreciation and amortization will be approximately $70 million.

In 2021, we renewed and amended our $500 million revolving credit facility, which now expires on April 1, 2026. The
renewed and amended facility, with a group of nine banks, has an accordion provision that allows it to be increased up to
$850 million if certain conditions (including lender approval) are satisfied. Borrowing rates under the facility are determined
by our leverage ratio. The facility requires us to maintain two financial covenants, a leverage ratio test and an interest
coverage test, and we were in compliance with the covenants as of December 31, 2023, and expect to be in compliance for
the foreseeable future. The facility backs up commercial papea r and credit line borrowings. At December 31, 2023, we had no
borrowings outstanding under the facility and an availabla e borrowing capacity of $500 million. We believe the combination
of availabla e borrowing capacity and operating cash flows will provide sufficient funds to finance our existing operations for
the foreseeable future.

Our total debt decreased by $217.2 million in 2023 primarily due to the use of operating cash flows to pay down debt. Our
leverage, as measured by the ratio of total debt to total capia talization, was 6.5 percent at December 31, 2023, compared with
16.5 percent at December 31, 2022.

Our remaining U.S. pension plan continues to meet all funding requirements under ERISA regulations. We were not required
to make a contribution to our pension plan in 2023. We forecast that we will not be required to make a contribution to the
plan in 2024, and we do not plan to make any voluntaryrr contributions in 2024. For further information on our pension plans,
see Note 13, “Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits” of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In 2023, our Board of Directors approved adding 7,500,000 shares of common stock to our existing discretionary share
repurchase authority. Under our share repurchase program, we may purchase our common stock through a combination of a
Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan and discretionary purchases in accordance with applicable securities laws. The stock
repurchase authorization remains effeff ctive until terminated by our Board of Directors, which may occur at any time, subju ect
to the parameters of any Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan that we may then have in effeff ct. During 2023, we repurchased
4,377,000 shares of our stock at a total cost of $306.5 million. As of December 31, 2023, we had 3,501,462 shares remaining
on the share repurchase authority. On January 26, 2024, the Board of Directors approved adding 2,000,000 shares of common
stock to the existing discretionary share repurchase authority. Including the additional shares, we have 5,202,462 shares
availabla e for repurchase as of the date of the Board of Directors' approval. We intend to repurchase approximately $300
million of our common stock in 2024 through a combination of 10b5-1 plans and open-market purchases.
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We paid dividends of $1.22 per share in 2023 compared with $1.14 per share in 2022. We increased our dividend by seven
percent in the fourth quarter of 2023, and the five-year compound annual growth rate of our dividend payment is
approximately 10 percent. We have paid dividends for 84 consecutive years with annual amounts increasing each of the last
32 years.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Refer to Recent Accounting Pronouncements in Note 1, “Organization and Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Critical Accounting Policies

Our accounting policies are described in Note 1, “Organization and Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Also as disclosed in Note 1, the preparation of financial statements in conforff mity with
accounting principles generally accepted in the U.S. requires the use of estimates and assumptions about future events that
affeff ct the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Future events and their effeff cts cannot be
determined with absolute certainty. Thereforff e, the determination of estimates requires the exercise of judgment. Actual
results inevitabla y will differ from those estimates, and such differences may be material to the financial statements.

The most significant accounting estimates inherent in the preparation of our financial statements include estimates associated
with the evaluation of the impairment of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets and significant estimates used in the
determination of the liabia lity related to product warranties. Various assumptions and other factors underlie the determination
of these significant estimates. The process of determining significant estimates is fact-specific and takes into account factors
such as historical experience and trends, and in some cases, actuat rial techniques. We monitor these significant factors and
adjud stments are made as facts and circumstances dictate. Historically, actuat l results have not significantly deviated from
those determined using the estimates described above.

Goodwill and Indefine ite-lived Intangible Assets

In conforff mity with GAAP, goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the assets might be impaired. We perform impairment reviews
for our reporting units using a fair-value method based on management’s judgments and assumptions. The fair value
represents the estimated amount at which a reporting unit could be bought or sold in a current transaction between willing
parties on an arms-length basis. The estimated fair value is then compared with the carrying amount of the reporting unit,
including recorded goodwill. We are subju ect to financial statement risk to the extent that goodwill and indefinite-lived
intangible assets become impaired. Any impairment review is, by its nature, highly judgmental as estimates of future sales,
earnings and cash flows are utilized to determine fair values. However, we believe that we conduct a thorough and competent
annual quantitative analysis of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets. Based on the annual goodwill impairment test,
we determined there was no impairment of our goodwill as of December 31, 2023. The fair value of each of our reporting
units significantly exceeded its carrying value and a 20 percent decrease in the estimated fair value of our reporting units
would not have resulted in a different conclusion. Based on the annual indefinite-lived assets impairment test, we determined
there was no impairment of our indefinite-lived assets as of December 31, 2023.

Product Warrantytt

Our products carry warranties that generally range from one to 12 years and are based on terms that are generally accepted in
the market. We provide for the estimated cost of product warranty at the time of sale. The product warranty provision is
estimated based on warranty loss experience using actual historical failure rates and estimated costs of product replacement.
The variables used in the calculation of the provision are reviewed at least annually. At times, warranty issues may arise
which are beyond the scope of our historical experience. We provide for any such warranty issues as they become known and
estimabla e. While our warranty costs have historically been within calculated estimates, it is possible that future warranty
costs could differ significantly from those estimates. The allocation of the warranty liabia lity between current and long-term is
based on the expected warranty liabia lity to be paid in the next year as determined by historical product failure rates. At
December 31, 2023 and 2022, our reserve for product warranties was $188.1 million and $182.5 million, respectively.

23



Non-GAAP Measures

We are providing non-U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (GAAP) measures (adjusted earnings, adjud sted EPS,
total segment earnings, adjud sted segment earnings, and adjud sted corporate expense) that exclude the impact of restructurt ing
and impairment expenses, pension settlement income and expenses, non-operating pension expenses, income from a legal
judgment and expenses associated with a terminated acquisition. Reconciliations from GAAP measures to non-GAAP
measures are provided below.

We believe that the measures of adjud sted earnings, adjud sted EPS, adjud sted segment earnings and adjud sted corporate expense
provide usefulff information to investors about our perforff mance and allow management and our investors to better understand
our performance between periods without regard to items that we do not consider to be a component of our core operating
performance or recurring in nature.

A. O. SMITH CORPORATRR ION
Adjud sted Earnings and Adjud sted Earnings Per Share

(dollars in millions, except per share data)
(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of net earnings and diluted earnings per share to adjud sted earnings (non-GAAP) and
adjud sted earnings per share (non-GAAP):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Net Earnings (GAAP) $ 556.6 $ 235.7

Restructurt ing and impairment expenses, before tax 18.8 —
Pension settlement expense (income), before tax (0.9) 417.3
Pension expense, before tax — 11.7
Legal judgment income, before tax — (11.5)
Terminated acquisition-related expenses, before tax — 4.3
Tax effeff ct on above items 0.3 (168.8)

Adjud sted Earnings (non-GAAP) $ 574.8 $ 488.7

Diluted Earnings Per Share (GAAP)(1) $ 3.69 $ 1.51
Restructurt ing and impairment expenses, per diluted share, before tax 0.12 —
Pension settlement expense (income) per diluted share, before tax — 2.68
Pension expense per diluted share, before tax — 0.08
Legal judgment income per diluted share, before tax — (0.07)
Terminated acquisition-related expenses per diluted share, before tax — 0.03
Tax effeff ct on above items per diluted share — (1.09)

Adjud sted Earnings Per Share (non-GAAP)(1) $ 3.81 $ 3.14
(1) Earnings per share amounts are calculated discretely and, thereforff e, may not add up to the total due to rounding.
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATRR ION
Adjud sted Segment Earnings

(dollars in millions)
(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of reported earnings before provision for income taxes to total segment earnings (non-
GAAP) and adjud sted segment earnings (non-GAAP):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Earnings Before Provision for Income Taxes (GAAP) $ 733.5 $ 223.7

Add: Corporate expense(1) 64.1 128.9
Add: Interest expense 12.0 9.4

Total Segment Earnings (non-GAAP) $ 809.6 $ 362.0

North America(2) $ 726.7 $ 266.0
Rest of World(3) 83.4 96.3
Inter-segment earnings elimination (0.5) (0.3)

Total Segment Earnings (non-GAAP) $ 809.6 $ 362.0

Additional Information
(1)Corporate expense $ (64.1) $ (128.9)

Pension settlement expense (income), before tax (0.2) 70.5
Impairment expense, before tax 3.1 —
Pension expense, before tax — 2.0
Terminated acquisition-related expenses, before tax — 4.3

Adjud sted Corporate expense (non-GAAP) $ (61.2) $ (52.1)

(2)North America $ 726.7 $ 266.0
Pension settlement expense (income), before tax (0.7) 346.8
Pension expense, before tax — 9.7
Legal judgment income, before tax — (11.5)

Adjud sted North America (non-GAAP) $ 726.0 $ 611.0

(3)Rest of World $ 83.4 $ 96.3
Restructurt ing and impairment expenses, before tax 15.7 —

Adjud sted Rest of World (non-GAAP) $ 99.1 $ 96.3
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATRR ION
Free Cash Flow
(dollars in millions)

(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of reported cash flow from operating activities to free cash flow (non-GAAP):

Twelve Months Ended
December 31,

2023 2022
Cash provided by operating activities (GAAP) $ 670.3 $ 391.4
Less: Capia tal expenditures (72.6) (70.3)
Free cash flow (non-GAAP) $ 597.7 $ 321.1

A. O. SMITH CORPORATRR ION
2024 EPS Guidance and 2023 Adjud sted EPS

(unaudited)

The following is a reconciliation of diluted EPS to adjud sted EPS (non-GAAP) (all items are net of tax):

2024
Guidance 2023

Diluted EPS (GAAP) $ 3.90 - 4.15 $ 3.69
Restructurt ing and impairment expenses — 0.12 (1)

Adjud sted EPS (non-GAAP) $ 3.90 - 4.15 $ 3.81
(1) Includes pre-tax restructurt ing and impairment expenses of $15.7 million and $3.1 million, within the Rest of World
segment and Corporate expenses, respectively.

Outlook
As we begin 2024, we expect our consolidated sales to increase between three and five percent. Our sales projection is driven
by continued end-market demand in water heating and a rebound in boiler and water treatment volumes afteff r 2023
corrections in end-market inventories. In our Rest of the World segment, we see overall growth with stability in China as the
economy continues to work through its challenges. We expect to achieve full-year earnings of between $3.90 and $4.15 per
share. Our guidance excludes the impacts from potential future acquisitions.

OTHER MATTERS

Environmental

Our operations are governed by a number of federal, foreign, state, local and environmental laws concerning the generation
and management of hazardous materials, the discharge of pollutants into the environment and remediation of sites owned by
the Company or third parties. We have expended financial and managerial resources complying with such laws. Expenditures
related to environmental matters were not material in 2023 and we do not expect them to be material in any single year. We
have reserves associated with environmental obligations at various facilities and we believe these reserves together with
availabla e insurance coverage are sufficient to cover reasonabla y anticipated remediation costs. Although we believe that our
operations are subsu tantially in compliance with such laws and maintain procedurd es designed to maintain compliance, there
are no assurances that subsu tantial additional costs for compliance will not be incurred in the future. However, since the same
laws govern our competitors, we should not be placed at a competitive disadvantage.

Risk Management

We evaluate risk to our business in a number of ways, primarily through our Enterprise Risk Management (ERM) process,
which we conduct enterprise-wise on a periodic basis, and seeks to identifyff and address significant and material risks. Our
ERM process assesses, manages, and monitors risks consistent with the integrated risk framework in the Enterpriseii Riskii
Management-Integre ated Frameworkrr (2017) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (COSO). We believe that risk-taking is an inherent aspect of the pursuit of our strategy. Our goal is to manage
risks pruderr ntly rather than avoid risks. We can mitigate risks and their impact on our company only to a limited extent.
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A team of senior executives prioritizes identifieff d risks, including decarbonir zation, new technologies and cyber threats among
others, and assigns an executive to address each majoa r identifieff d risk area and lead action plans to manage risks. Our Board
of Directors provides oversight of the ERM process and reviews significant identifieff d risks. The Audit Committee of the
Board of Directors also reviews significant financial risk exposures and the steps management has taken to monitor and
manage them. Our other Board committees also play a role in risk management, as set forth in their respective charters.

Our goal is to proactively manage risks using a structurt ed approach in conjunction with strategic planning, with the intent to
preserve and enhance shareholder value. However, the risks set forth in Item 1A - Risk Factors and elsewhere in this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and other risks and uncertainties could adversely affeff ct us and cause our results to vary materially from
recent results or from our anticipated future results.

Market Risk

We are exposed to various types of market risks, primarily currency. We monitor our risks in such areas on a continuous
basis and generally enter into forward contracts to minimize such exposures. We do not engage in speculation in our
derivatives strategies. Further discussion regarding derivative instruments is contained in Note 1, “Organization and
Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

We enter into foreign currency forward contracts to minimize the effeff ct of fluctuating foreign currencies. At December 31,
2023, we had net foreign currency contracts outstanding with notional values of $118.8 million. Assuming a hypothetical ten
percent movement in the respective currencies, the potential foreign exchange gain or loss associated with the change in
exchange rates would amount to $11.9 million. However, gains and losses from our forward contracts will be offsff et by gains
and losses in the underlying transactions being hedged.

Forward-Looking Statements

This filing contains statements that the Company believes are “forff ward-looking statements” within the meaning of the Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements generally can be identifieff d by the use of words such as
“may,” “will,” “expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “believe,” “forff ecast,” “continue,” “guidance,” “outlook” or words
of similar meaning. All forward-looking statements are subju ect to risks and uncertainties that could cause actuat l results to
differ materially from those anticipated as of the date of this filing. Important factors that could cause actuat l results to differ
materially from these expectations include, among other things, the following: softening in U.S. residential water heater
demand; negative impacts to the Company, particularly the demand for its products, resulting from global inflationary
pressures or a potential recession in one or more of the markets in which the Company participates; the Company’s ability to
continue to obtain commodities, components, parts and accessories on a timely basis through its supplu y chain and at expected
costs; negative impacts to demand for the Company’s products, particularly commercial products, as a result of changes in
commercial property usage that followed the COVID-19 pandemic; further weakening in U.S. residential or commercial
construcr tion or instability in the Company's replacement markets; inability of the Company to implement or maintain pricing
actions; inconsistent recovery of the Chinese economy or a further decline in the growth rate of consumer spending or
housing sales in China; negative impact to the Company’s businesses from international tariffs, trade disputes and
geopolitical differences, including the conflicff ts in Ukraine, the Middle East and attacks on commercial shipping vessels in the
Red Sea; potential further weakening in the high-efficff iency gas boiler segment in the U.S.; subsu tantial defaults in payment
by, material reduction in purchases by or the loss, bankruptr cy or insolvency of a majoa r customer; foreign currency
fluctuations; the Company’s inability to successfulff ly integrate or achieve its strategic objectives resulting from acquisitions;
competitive pressures on the Company’s businesses, including new technologies and new competitors; the impact of potential
information technology or data security breaches; changes in government regulations or regulatoryrr requirements; the inability
to respond to secular trends toward decarbonir zation and energy effiff ciency; and adverse developments in general economic,
political and business conditions in key regions of the world. Forward-looking statements included in this filing are made
only as of the date of this filing, and the Company is under no obligation to update these statements to reflect subsu equent
events or circumstances. All subsu equent written and oral forward-looking statements attributed to the Company, or persons
acting on its behalf,ff are qualifieff d entirely by these cautionary statements.

Forward-looking and other statements in this Form 10-K regarding our environmental and other sustainabia lity plans and goals
are not an indication that these statements are necessarily material to investors or are required to be disclosed in our filings
with the SEC. In addition, historical, current, and forward-looking social, environmental and sustainabia lity-related statements
may be based on standards for measuring progress that are still developing, internal controls and processes that continue to
evolve, and assumptions that are subju ect to change in the future. Any such forward-looking statements made herein are based
on information currently availabla e to us as of the date of this Report. We undertake no obligation to publicly update or revise
any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as required by
law.
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ITEM 7A – QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISKQ Q

See “Market Risk” above.

ITEM 8 – FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of A. O. Smith Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of A. O. Smith Corporation (the Company) as of December
31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings, stockholders’ equity, and cash
flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement
schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion,
the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at
December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2023, in conforff mity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on criteria establa ished in
Internal Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework), and our report dated Februar ry 13, 2024 expressed an unqualifieff d opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion
on the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and
are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the
applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due
to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedurd es to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedurd es that respond to those risks. Such procedurd es included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also
included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the
overall presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonabla e basis for our opinion.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subju ective or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements,
taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the
critical audit matter or on the account or disclosure to which it relates.

Product Warrantytt Liabilitii ytt Valuatiott n
Descripti ion of
the Matter

At December 31, 2023, the Company’s product warranty liabia lity was $188.1 million. As discussed in
Note 1 of the consolidated financial statements, the Company records a liabia lity for the expected cost of
warranty-related claims at the time of sale. The producd t warranty liabia lity is estimated based upon
warranty loss experience using actual historical failure rates and estimated cost of product replacement.
Products generally carry warranties from one to twelve years. The Company performs separate warranty
calculations based on the product type and the warranty term and aggregates them.

Auditing the product warranty liabia lity was complex due to the judgmental nature of the warranty loss
experience assumptions, including the estimated producd t failure rate and the estimated cost of product
replacement. In particular, it is possible that future product failure rates may not be reflective of historical
product failure rates, or that a producd t quality issue has not yet been identifieff d as of the financial
statement date. Additionally, the cost of product replacement could differ from estimates due to
fluctuations in the replacement cost of the product.

How We
Addrdd essed the
Matter in our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design, and tested the operating effeff ctiveness of controls
over the Company’s product warranty liabia lity calculation. For example, we tested controls over
management’s review of the product warranty liability calculation, including the significant assumptions
and the data inputs to the calculation.

To test the Company’s calculation of the product warranty liability, our audit procedurd es included, among
others, evaluating the methodology used, and testing the significant assumptions discussed above and the
underlying data used by the Company in its analysis. We tested the validity of claims within the
calculation and tested the completeness and accuracy of the claims settled data. We recalculated the
historical failure rates using actuat l claims data. We compared the estimated cost of replacement included
in the product warranty liability with the current costs to manufactff urt e a comparable product and assessed
the impact of projected changes in significant producd t costs. We also analyzed current year claims data to
identifyff changes in failure trends and assessed the historical accuracy of the prior year liabia lity. Further,
we inquired of operational and quality control personnel regarding quality issues and trends.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1917.

Milwaukee, Wisconsin
Februar ry 13, 2024
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31 (dollars in millions)( )
2023 2022

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 339.9 $ 391.2
Marketable securities 23.5 90.6
Receivabla es 596.0 581.2
Inventories 497.4 516.4
Other current assets 43.5 54.3
Total Current Assets 1,500.3 1,633.7
Net property, plant and equipment 597.5 590.7
Goodwill 633.4 619.7
Other intangibles 336.7 347.9
Operating lease assets 37.3 29.8
Other assets 108.7 110.5

Total Assets $ 3,213.9 $ 3,332.3
Liabilities

Current Liabilities
Trade payabla es $ 600.4 $ 625.8
Accruer d payroll and benefits 92.2 75.7
Accruer d liabia lities 177.4 159.1
Product warranties 65.3 63.6
Long-term debt due within one year 10.0 10.0
Total Current Liabilities 945.3 934.2
Long-term debt 117.3 334.5
Product warranties 122.8 118.9
Pension liabia lities 10.5 9.9
Long-term operating lease liabia lities 27.9 22.4
Other liabia lities 145.7 164.7

Total Liabilities 1,369.5 1,584.6
Commitments and contingencies — —

Stockholders’ Equityq y
Preferff red Stock — —
Class A Common Stock (shares issued 26,023,132 and 26,035,656 as of December 31,
2023 and 2022, respectively) 130.1 130.2
Common Stock (shares issued 164,684,460 and 164,671,938 as of December 31, 2023
and 2022, respectively) 164.7 164.7
Capia tal in excess of par value 578.2 555.9
Retained earnings 3,258.1 2,885.0
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (84.2) (82.4)
Treasuryrr stock at cost (2,202.5) (1,905.7)

Total Stockholders’ Equity 1,844.4 1,747.7
Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity $ 3,213.9 $ 3,332.3

See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF EARNINGS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions, except per share amounts)( , p p )
2023 2022 2021

Net sales $ 3,852.8 $ 3,753.9 $ 3,538.9
Cost of products sold 2,368.0 2,424.3 2,228.0
Gross profitff 1,484.8 1,329.6 1,310.9
Selling, general and administrative expenses 727.4 670.9 701.4
Restructurt ing and impairment expenses 18.8 — —
Interest expense 12.0 9.4 4.3
Other (income) expense, net (6.9) 425.6 (20.4)
Earnings before provision for income taxes 733.5 223.7 625.6
Provision for (benefitff from) income taxes 176.9 (12.0) 138.5

Net Earnings $ 556.6 $ 235.7 $ 487.1
Net Earnings Per Share of Common Stock (1) $ 3.71 $ 1.52 $ 3.05
Diluted Net Earnings Per Share of Common Stock (1) $ 3.69 $ 1.51 $ 3.02
(1)Earnings per share amounts are calculated discretely and, thereforff e, may not add up to the total due to rounding.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE EARNINGS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( )
2023 2022 2021

Net Earnings $ 556.6 $ 235.7 $ 487.1
Other comprehensive earnings (loss)

Foreign currency translation adjud stments 3.8 (39.4) 3.4
Unrealized net (loss) gain on cash flow derivative instruments, less
related income tax benefit (provision) of $1.4 in 2023, ($1.4) in 2022
and $— in 2021 (4.2) 4.3 —
Change in pension liability less related income tax benefit (provision) of
$0.5 in 2023, ($179.0) in 2022 and $4.5 in 2021 (1.4) 284.1 (13.6)

Comprehensive Earnings $ 554.8 $ 484.7 $ 476.9

See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( )
2023 2022 2021

Operating Activities
Net earnings $ 556.6 $ 235.7 $ 487.1
Adjud stments to reconcile earnings to cash provided by (used in) operating
activities:

Depreciation and amortization 78.3 76.9 77.9
Stock based compensation expense 11.5 11.1 11.9
Deferred income taxes (3.8) — —
Non-cash impairment 15.6 — —
Pension settlement (income) expense (0.9) 417.3 —
Pension settlement non-cash taxes 0.2 (167.7) —
Net changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Current assets and liabia lities 20.0 (194.1) 90.8
Noncurrent assets and liabilities (7.2) 12.2 (26.6)

Cash Provided by Operating Activities 670.3 391.4 641.1
Investing Activities
Capia tal expenditures (72.6) (70.3) (75.1)
Acquisitions (16.8) (8.0) (207.6)
Investments in marketable securities (63.1) (91.6) (185.4)
Net proceeds from sales of marketable securities 128.4 178.0 118.2
Cash (Used in) Provided by Investing Activities (24.1) 8.1 (349.9)
Financing Activities
Long-term debt (repaid) incurred (218.1) 150.6 83.5
Common stock repurchases (306.5) (403.5) (366.5)
Net proceeds (payments) from stock option activity 23.4 (0.7) 32.1
Dividends paid (183.5) (177.2) (170.1)
Cash Used in Financing Activities (684.7) (430.8) (421.0)
Effeff ct of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (12.8) (20.8) —
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (51.3) (52.1) (129.8)
Cash and cash equivalents-beginning of year 391.2 443.3 573.1
Cash and Cash Equivalents-End of Year $ 339.9 $ 391.2 $ 443.3

See accompanying notes, which are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

2023 2022 2021
Class A Common Stock
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 130.2 $ 130.5 $ 130.8
Conversion of Class A Common Stock (0.1) (0.3) (0.3)
Balance at the end of the year $ 130.1 $ 130.2 $ 130.5
Common Stock
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 164.7 $ 164.7 $ 164.6
Conversion of Class A Common Stock — — 0.1
Balance at the end of the year $ 164.7 $ 164.7 $ 164.7
Capital in Excess of Par Value
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 555.9 $ 545.2 $ 520.4
Conversion of Class A Common Stock 0.1 0.3 0.3
Issuance of share units (10.3) (6.0) (5.6)
Vesting of share units (3.7) (3.0) (2.2)
Stock based compensation expense 10.4 11.1 10.3
Exercises of stock options 14.5 1.3 15.4
Issuance of share based compensation 11.3 7.0 6.6
Balance at the end of the year $ 578.2 $ 555.9 $ 545.2
Retained Earnings
Balance at the beginning of the year $ 2,885.0 $ 2,826.6 $ 2,509.6
Net earnings 556.6 235.7 487.1
Dividends on stock (183.5) (177.3) (170.1)
Balance at the end of the year $ 3,258.1 $ 2,885.0 $ 2,826.6
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss
Balance at the beginning of the year $ (82.4) $ (331.4) $ (321.2)
Foreign currency translation adjud stments 3.8 (39.4) 3.4
Unrealized net (loss) gain on cash flow derivative instruments, less related
income tax benefit (provision) of $1.4 in 2023, ($1.4) in 2022 and $— in
2021 (4.2) 4.3 —
Change in pension liabia lity less related income tax benefit (provision) of $0.5
in 2023, ($179.0) in 2022 and $4.5 in 2021 (1.4) 284.1 (13.6)
Balance at the end of the year $ (84.2) $ (82.4) $ (331.4)
Treasury Stock
Balance at the beginning of the year $ (1,905.7) $ (1,503.4) $ (1,155.9)
Exercise of stock options, net of 61,605, 47,309 and 34,679 shares
surrendered as proceeds and to pay taxes in 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively 8.8 (2.1) 16.5
Stock incentives and directors’ compensation 0.3 0.3 0.3
Shares repurchased (306.5) (403.5) (366.5)
Excise tax on repurchases of common stock (3.1) — —
Vesting of share units 3.7 3.0 2.2
Balance at the end of the year $ (2,202.5) $ (1,905.7) $ (1,503.4)
Total Stockholders’ Equity $ 1,844.4 $ 1,747.7 $ 1,832.2

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( )

See accompanying notes which are an integral part of these statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. Organization and Significff ant Accounting Policies

Organization. A. O. Smith Corporation (A. O. Smith or the Company) is comprised of two reporting segments: North
America and Rest of World. The Rest of World segment is primarily comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments
manufactff urt e and market comprehensive lines of residential and commercial gas and electric water heaters, boilers, tanks and
water treatment products. Both segments primarily manufactff urt e and market in their respective regions of the world.

Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned subsu idiaries
afteff r elimination of intercompany transactions.

Use of estimates. The preparation of financial statements in conforff mity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States (U.S.) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affeff ct the amounts reported in the
accompanying financial statements and notes. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Fair value of financial instruments. The carrying amounts of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities, receivabla es,
floating rate debt and trade payabla es approximated fair value as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, due to the short maturities
or frequent rate resets of these instruments. The fair value of term notes with insurance companies included in Long-term
debt within the consolidated balance sheets was approximately $116.5 million as of December 31, 2023 compared with the
carrying amount of $127.3 million for the same date. The fair value of term notes with insurance companies was
approximately $120.2 million as of December 31, 2022 compared with the carrying amount of $136.5 million.

Foreign currency translation. For all subsu idiaries outside the U.S., with the exception of its Barbados, Hong Kong and
Mexican companies and its non-operating companies in the Netherlands, the Company uses the local currency as the
functional currency. For those operations using a functional currency other than the U.S. dollar, assets and liabia lities were
translated into U.S. dollars at year-end exchange rates, and revenues and expenses were translated at weighted-average
exchange rates. The resulting translation adjud stments were recorded as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. The
Barbados, Hong Kong, Mexican and non-operating Netherlands companies use the U.S. dollar as the functional currency.
Gains and losses from foreign currency transactions were included in net earnings and were not significant in 2023, 2022, or
2021.

Cash and cash equivalents. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with a maturity of three months or less
when purchased to be cash equivalents.

Marketable securities. The Company considers all highly liquid investments with maturities greater than 90 days when
purchased to be marketable securities. At December 31, 2023, the Company’s marketable securities consisted of bank time
deposits with original maturities ranging from 180 days to 12 months and were primarily located at investment grade rated
banks in China and Hong Kong.

Inventory valuation. Inventories are carried at lower of cost or net realizable value. Cost is determined on the last-in, first-
out (LIFO) method for a certain of the Company’s domestic inventories, which comprised 39 percent and 36 percent of the
Company’s total inventoryrr at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Inventories of foreign subsu idiaries, the remaining
domestic inventories and supplu ies were determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method.

Property, plant and equipment. Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost. Depreciation is computed primarily by the
straight-line method. The estimated service lives used to compute depreciation are generally 25 to 50 years for buildings,
three to 20 years for equipment and three to 15 years for software. Maintenance and repair costs are expensed as incurred.

Goodwill and other intangibles. Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are not amortized but are reviewed for
impairment on an annual basis. Separabla e intangible assets, primarily comprised of customer relationships, that are not
deemed to have an indefinite life are amortized on a straight-line basis over their estimated usefulff lives which range from four
to 25 years.

Impairment of long-lived and amortizable intangible assets. Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets subju ect to
amortization are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverabla e. If the sum of the expected undiscounted cash flows is less than the carrying value of the related asset
or group of assets, a loss is recognized for the differff ence between the fair value and carrying value of the asset or groupu of
assets. Such analyses involves significant judgment.

Product warranties. The Company’s products carryrr warranties that generally range from one to twelve years and are based
on terms that are consistent with the market. The Company records a liabia lity for the expected cost of warranty-related claims
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at the time of sale and is estimated based on the warranty period, product type and loss experience using actuat l historical
failure rates and estimated costs of product replacement. The variables used in the calculation of the provision are reviewed
by the Company at least annually. At times, warranty issues may arise which are beyond the scope of the Company’s
historical experience. The Company provides for any such warranty issues as they become known and estimabla e. The
allocation of the warranty liability between current and long-term is based on expected warranty claims to be settled in the
next year as determined by historical product failure rates.

The following tabla e presents the Company’s product warranty liability activity in 2023 and 2022:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Balance at beginning of year $ 182.5 $ 184.4
Expense 79.9 64.2
Claims settled (74.3) (66.1)
Balance at end of year $ 188.1 $ 182.5

Derivative instruments. The Company utilizes certain derivative instruments to enhance its ability to manage currency as
well as raw materials price risk. The Company does not enter into contracts for speculative purposrr es. The fair values of all
derivatives are recorded in the consolidated balance sheets. The change in a derivative’s fair value is recorded each period in
current earnings or accumulated other comprehensive loss (AOCL), depending on whether the derivative is designated as part
of a hedge transaction and if so, the type of hedge transaction. See Note 14, “Derivative Instruments” for disclosure of the
Company’s derivative instruments and hedging activities.

Fair Value Measurements. Accounting Standards Codification (ASC) 820 Fair Value Measurements, defines fair value,
establa ishes a consistent framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosure for each majoa r asset and liabia lity categoryrr
measured at fair value on either a recurring basis or nonrecurring basis. ASC 820 clarifieff s that fair value is an exit price,
representing the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transferff a liabia lity in an orderly transaction between
market participants. As such, fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing an asset or liabia lity. As a basis for considering such assumptions, ASC 820
establa ishes a three-tier fair value hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair value as follows: (Level 1)
observabla e inputs such as quoted prices in active markets; (Level 2) inputs, other than the quoted prices in active markets,
that are observabla e either directly or indirectly; and (Level 3) unobservabla e inputs in which there is little or no market data,
which require the reporting entity to develop its own assumptions.

Assets and liabia lities measured at fair value are based on the market approach which are prices and other relevant information
generated by market transactions involving identical or comparable assets or liabia lities.

Assets (liabia lities) measured at fair value on a recurring basis are as follows (dollars in millions):

Fair Value Measurement Usingg Balance Sheet Location
December 31,

2023
December 31,

2022
Quoted prices in active markets for identical
assets (Level 1) Marketable Securities $ 23.5 $ 90.6
Significant other observabla e inputs (Level 2) (Accrued liabia lities) / Other current

assets (4.1) 6.5

There were no changes in the valuation techniques used to measure fair values on a recurring basis.

Revenue recognition. Subsu tantially all of the Company’s sales are from contracts with customers for the purchase of its
products. Contracts and customer purchase orders are used to determine the existence of a sales contract. Shipping documents
are used to verify shipment. For subsu tantially all of its producd ts, the Company transferff s control of products to the customer at
the point in time when title and risk are passed to the customer, which generally occurs upon shipment of the product. See
Note 2, “Revenue Recognition” for disclosure of the Company’s revenue recognition activities.

Advertising. The majoa rity of advertising costs are charged to operations as incurred and totaled $93.9 million, $100.4 million
and $107.0 million during 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Included in total advertising costs are expenses associated with
store displays for water heater, water treatment products, and kitchen products in China that are amortized over 12 to 48
months which totaled $15.2 million, $17.2 million and $25.2 million during 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

1. Organization and Significff ant Accounting Policies (continued)
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Research and development. Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred and amounted to $97.5
million, $89.0 million and $94.2 million during 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Environmental costs. The Company accrues for costs associated with environmental obligations when such costs are
probabla e and reasonabla y estimabla e. Costs of estimated future expenditures are not discounted to their present value.
Recoveries of environmental costs from other parties are recorded as assets when their receipt is considered probabla e. The
accruar ls are adjud sted as facts and circumstances change.

Stock-based compensation. Compensation cost is recognized using the straight-line method over the vesting period of the
award and forfeitures are recognized as they occur. In accordance with amended ASC 718, the Company recognized $3.2
million, $1.1 million, and $5.6 million of discrete income tax benefits on settled stock based compensation awards during
2023, 2022, and 2021 respectively.

Income taxes. The provision for income taxes is computed using the asset and liability method, in accordance with ASC 740
Income Taxeaa s, under which deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the expected future tax consequences of
temporaryrr differences between the financial reporting and tax bases of assets and liabia lities and for operating losses and tax
credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabia lities are measured using the currently enacted tax rates that apply to
taxabla e income in effeff ct for the years in which those tax assets are expected to be realized or settled and are classified as
noncurrent in the consolidated balance sheet. The Company records a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to the
amount that is believed more likely than not to be realized.

The Company recognizes the tax benefit from an uncertain tax position only if it is more likely than not the tax position will
be sustained on examination by the taxing authorities, based on the technical merits of the position. The tax benefits
recognized in the financial statements from such positions are then measured based on the largest benefit that has a greater
than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement.

Earnings per share of common stock. The Company is not required to use the two-class method of calculating earnings per
share since its Class A Common Stock and Common Stock have equal dividend rights. The numerator for the calculation of
basic and diluted earnings per share is net earnings. The following tabla e sets forth the computation of basic and diluted
weighted-average shares used in the earnings per share calculations:

2023 2022 2021
Denominator for basic earnings per share - weighted-average shares 149,952,679 154,786,327 159,906,834
Effeff ct of dilutive stock options, restricted stock and share units 1,062,895 993,037 1,413,068
Denominator for diluted earnings per share 151,015,574 155,779,364 161,319,902

Recent Accounting Pronouncements.

In December 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) amended Accounting Standards Codification (ASC)
740, Income Taxes (issued under Accounting Standards Update (ASU) 2023-09, “ImpII rovements to Income Taxaa
Discii losures”). This ASU requires added disclosures related to the rate reconciliation, income taxes paid and other
amendments intended to improve effeff ctiveness and comparability. The amendment is effeff ctive for the Company beginning
with its 2025 annual disclosures with early adoption permitted and should be applied on a prospective basis. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2023-09 will have on its annual disclosures.

In November 2023, the FASB issued ASU 2023-07, “Segme ent Repore ting (TopiTT c 280) - Imprm ovements to Repore table Segme ent
Discii losures.” The update is intended to improve reportabla e segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced
disclosures about significant expenses. The ASU requires disclosures to include significant segment expenses that are
regularly provided to the chief operating decision maker (CODM), a description of other segment items by reportabla e
segment, and any additional measures of a segment's profitff or loss used by the CODM when deciding how to allocate
resources. The ASU also requires all annual disclosures currently required by Topic 280 to be included in interim periods.
The update is effeff ctive for the Company beginning with its 2024 annual disclosures and interim periods beginning in 2025,
with early adoption permitted and requires retrospective application to all prior periods presented in the financial statements.
The Company is currently evaluating the impact the adoption of ASU 2023-07 will have on its annual and interim
disclosures.

2. Revenue Recognition

Subsu tantially all of the Company’s sales are from contracts with customers for the purchase of its products. Contracts and
customer purchase orders are used to determine the existence of a sales contract. Shipping documents are used to verify
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shipment. For subsu tantially all of its products, the Company transferff s control of products to the customer at the point in time
when title and risk are passed to the customer, which generally occurs upon shipment of the product. Each unit sold is
considered an independent, unbundled performance obligation. The Company’s sales arrangements do not include other
performance obligations that are material in the context of the contract.

The nature, timing and amount of revenue for a respective performance obligation are consistent for each customer. The
Company measures the sales transaction price based upon the payment terms associated with the transaction and whether the
sales price is subju ect to refund or adjud stment. Sales and value added taxes are excluded from the measurement of the
transaction price. The Company’s payment terms for the majoa rity of its customers are 30 to 90 days from shipment.

Additionally, certain customers in China pay the Company prior to the shipment of products resulting in a customer deposits
liabia lity of $59.7 million and $85.7 million at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. Customer deposit
liabia lities are short term in nature, recognized into revenue within one year of receipt. The Company assesses the
collectability of customer receivables based on the creditworthiness of a customer as determined by credit checks and
analysis, as well as the customer’s payment history.rr In determining the allowance for credit losses, the Company also
considers various factors including the aging of customer accounts and historical write-offs. In addition, the Company
monitors other risk factors including forward-looking information when establa ishing adequate allowances for credit losses,
which reflects the current estimate of credit losses expected to be incurred over the lifeff of the receivabla es. The Company’s
allowance for credit losses was $10.1 million and $9.5 million at December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

Rebates and incentives are based on pricing agreements and are tied to sales volume. The amount of revenue is reduced for
variable consideration related to customer rebates which are calculated using expected values and are based on program
specific factors such as expected rebate percentages based on expected volumes. In situations where the customer has the
right to return eligible products, the Company reduces revenue for its estimates of expected product returns, which are
primarily based on an analysis of historical experience. Changes in such accruarr ls may be required if actuat l sales volume
differs from estimated sales volume or if future returns differ from historical experience. Shipping and handling costs billed
to customers are included in net sales and the related costs are included in cost of products sold as they are activities
performed to fulfillff the promise to transferff products.

Disaii ggregation of Net Sales

The Company is comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World. The Rest of World segment is
primarily comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufactff urt e and market comprehensive lines of residential
and commercial gas, heat pump and electric water heaters, boilers, tanks and water treatment products. Both segments
primarily manufactff urt e and market in their respective regions of the world.

As each segment manufacff tures and markets products in its respective region of the world, the Company has determined that
geography is the primaryrr factor in reporting its sales. The Company further disaggregates its North America segment sales by
majoa r product line as each of North America’s majoa r product lines is sold through distinct distribution channels and these
product lines may be impacted differently by certain economic factors. Within the Rest of World segment, particularly in
China and India, the Company’s majoa r customers purchase across the Company’s product lines, utilizing the same
distribution channels regardless of product type. In addition, the impact of economic factors is unlikely to be differentiated by
product line in the Rest of World segment.

The North America segment's majoa r product lines are defined as the following:

Water heatersrr The Company’s water heaters are open water heating systems that heat potable water. Typical applications for
water heaters include residences, restaurants, hotels, offiff ce buildings, laundries, car washes and small businesses. The
Company sells residential and commercial water heater producd ts and related parts through its wholesale distribution channel,
which includes more than 900 independent wholesale plumbing distributors. The Company also sells residential water heaters
and related parts through retail and maintenance, repair and operations (MRO) channels. A significant portion of the
Company’s water heater sales in the North America segment is derived from the replacement of existing products.

Boilers The Company’s boilers are closed loop water heating systems used primarily for space heating or hydronic heating.
The Company’s boilers are primarily used in applications in commercial settings for hospitals, schools, hotels and other large
commercial buildings while residential boilers are used in homes, apartments and condominiums. The Company’s boiler
distribution channel is comprised primarily of manufacff turer representative firms, with the remainder of its boilers distributed
through wholesale channels. The Company’s boiler sales in the North America segment are derived from a combination of
replacement of existing products and new construcr tion.
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Water treatment products The Company’s water treatment products range from point-of-entry water softeners, solutions for
problem well water, and whole-home water filtration products to on-the-go filtration bottles, point-of-use carbon,r and reverse
osmosis products. Typical applications for the Company’s water treatment products include residences, restaurants, hotels
and offiff ces. The Company sells water treatment producd ts through its retail and wholesale distribution channels, similar to
water heaters. The Company’s water treatment producd ts are also sold through independent water quality dealers as well as
directly to consumers including through e-commerce sales channels. A portion of the Company’s sales of water treatment
products in the North America segment is comprised of replacement filters.

The following tabla e disaggregates the Company’s net sales by segment. As described above, the Company’s North America
segment sales are further disaggregated by majoa r product line. In addition, the Company’s Rest of World segment sales are
disaggregated by China and all other Rest of World.

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021
North America

Water heaters and related parts(1) $ 2,456.9 $ 2,325.1 $ 2,115.9
Boilers and related parts 240.1 272.0 212.1
Water treatment products 225.9 222.0 201.5

Total North America 2,922.9 2,819.1 2,529.5
Rest of World

China $ 835.1 $ 839.1 $ 922.4
All other Rest of World 121.8 126.7 114.1

Total Rest of World 956.9 965.8 1,036.5
Inter-segment sales (27.0) (31.0) (27.1)

Total Net Sales $ 3,852.8 $ 3,753.9 $ 3,538.9

(1) Includes the results of Giant Factories, Inc. (Giant) from October 19, 2021, the date of acquisition.

3. Acquisitions

2023 Acquisiii tionsq

During the third quarter of 2023, the Company acquired a privately-held water treatment company. The Company paid an
aggregate cash purchase price of $16.8 million, net of cash acquired. The addition of the acquired company expands the
Company's water treatment platform. The acquired company is included in the North America segment.

2022 Acquisiii tionsq

During the second quarter of 2022, the Company acquired a privately-held water treatment company. The Company paid an
aggregate cash purchase price of $5.5 million, net of cash acquired. The addition of the company acquired expands the
Company's water treatment platform and is included in the North America segment for reporting purposr es. In addition, in the
third quarter of 2022, the Company incurred $4.3 million of expenses and related income tax benefit of $1.1 million
associated with a terminated acquisition. These expenses were related to the due diligence of a prospective acquisition target
and recorded within selling, general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of earnings.

2021 Acquisiii tionsq

On October 19, 2021, the Company acquired 100 percent of the shares and related assets of Giant, a Canada-based
manufactff urt er of residential and commercial water heaters for $198.6 million, net of cash acquired. The Company paid
$2.5 million of the purchase price in the second quarter of 2022 as a result of final working capital adjud stments. The
Company incurred acquisition costs of approximately $1.3 million in 2021.

Under the Giant purchase agreement, approximately $8 million of the purchase price was set aside as an escrow to satisfy any
potential obligations of the former owners of Giant, should they arise. The allocation of the purchase price to goodwill
decreased by $4.3 million in 2022 due to the net impact of a measurement period adjud stment, primarily related to income tax
matters, partially offsff et by the final working capia tal adjud stment. The addition of Giant increased the Company's North
America market penetration, created additional capaa city and enhanced the Company's distribution capabilities. Giant is
included in the North America segment.
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The following tabla e summarizes the allocation of fair value of the assets acquired and liabia lities assumed at the date of
acquisition. Of the $53.8 million of acquired identifiaff bla e intangible assets, $43.9 million was assigned to trademarks that are
not subju ect to amortization and $9.2 million was assigned to customer relationships which are amortized over 22 years, and
the remaining $0.7 million was assigned to non-compete agreements which are amortized over five years. The excess of the
acquisition purchase price over the fair value assigned to the assets acquired and liabia lities assumed was recorded as
goodwill.

The following tabla e summarizes the estimated fair values of Giant's assets acquired and liabia lities assumed at the date of
acquisition:

October 19, 2021 (dollars in millions), ( )
Current assets, net of cash acquired $ 60.1
Property, plant and equipment 55.8
Intangible assets 53.8
Goodwill 77.6

Total assets acquired 247.3
Current liabia lities (39.2)
Long Term liabia lities (9.5)

Net assets acquired $ 198.6

As required under ASC 805 Business Combinations, results of operations have been included in the Company’s consolidated
financial statements from the date of their acquisition.

4. Leases

The Company’s lease portfolff io consists of operating leases for buildings and equipment, such as forkliftsff and copiers,
primarily in the United States and China. The Company defines a lease as a contract that gives the Company the right to
control the use of a physical asset for a stated term. The Company pays the lessor for that right, with a series of payments
defined in the contract and a corresponding right of use operating lease asset and liabia lity are recorded. The Company has
elected not to record leases with an initial term of 12 months or less on its consolidated balance sheet. To determine balance
sheet amounts, required legal payments are discounted using the Company’s incremental borrowing rate as of the inception of
the lease. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate of interest that the Company would incur if it were to borrow, on a
collateralized basis, an amount equal to the value of the leased item over a similar term, in a similar economic environment.
Variable lease components not based on an index or rate are excluded from the measurement of the lease asset and liabia lity
and expensed as incurred for all asset classes.

Certain leases include one or more options to renew or terminate. Renewal terms can extend the lease term from one to five
years and options to terminate can be effeff ctive within one year. The exercise of lease renewal or termination is at the
Company’s discretion and when it is determined to be reasonabla y certain to renew or terminate, the option is reflected in the
measurement of lease asset and liabia lity. The Company’s lease agreements do not contain any arrangements related to
material residual value guarantees, restrictive covenants or material sublu eases. Cash flows associated with leases are
materially consistent with the expense recorded in the consolidated statement of earnings.

Supplu emental balance sheet information related to leases is as follows:

(dollars in millions)
December 31,

2023
December 31,

2022
Liabilities

Short term: Accruer d liabia lities $ 11.6 $ 9.9
Long term: Operating lease liabia lities 27.9 22.4

Total operating lease liabilities $ 39.5 $ 32.3
Less: Rent incentives and deferrals (2.2) (2.5)

Assets
Operating lease assets $ 37.3 $ 29.8
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Lease Term and Discount Rate
December 31,

2023
Weighted-average remaining lease term 7.0 years
Weighted-average discount rate 4.41%

The components of lease expense were as follows:

(dollars in millions)( )

Lease Expense(1) Classification
Year ended

December 31, 2023
Year ended

December 31, 2022
Operating lease expense Cost of products sold $ 5.3 $ 4.3

Selling, general and administrative expenses 16.2 15.8
(1) Includes short-term lease expense of $1.8 million and variable lease expenses of $4.6 million for the year ended

December 31, 2023 and short-term lease expense of $2.1 million and variable lease expenses of $3.1 million for the year
ended December 31, 2022, respectively.

Maturities of lease liabilities were as follows:

(dollars in millions) December 31, 2023
2024 $ 13.0
2025 9.5
2026 5.4
2027 3.6
2028 2.3
Afteff r 2028 12.6
Total lease payments 46.4
Less: Imputed interest (6.9)
Present value of operating lease liabilities $ 39.5

5. Restructuring and Impairment

During the first quarter of 2023, the Company determined that its business in Turkey (disposal group) included in the Rest of
World segment met the criteria to be classified as held for sale. The Company determined the fair value of the disposal group,u
less cost to sell, was lower than its carrying amount. As a result the Company recorded an impairment expense of
$15.6 million, of which $12.5 million was recorded in the Rest of World segment, and $3.1 million was recorded in
Corporate Expense. The impairment was recorded as a net reduction of $4.5 million to the assets and liabia lities and
$11.1 million for the anticipated liquidation of the cumulative foreign currency translation adjud stment associated with the
disposal group. The remaining carrying value of the disposal group was $0.6 million and classified as held for sale. During
the second quarter of 2023, the Company sold the disposal group for an amount that approximated the carrying value of the
net assets.

Upon closing of the sale in the second quarter of 2023, the Company released $11.0 million of foreign currency translation
losses from accumulated other comprehensive loss.

During the fourth quarter of 2023, the Company recorded $3.2 million of restructurt ing expense related to the exit of a
business within the Far East region.

4. Leases (continued)
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6. Statement of Cash Flows

Supplu emental cash flow information is as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021
Net change in current assets and liabia lities, net of acquisitions:

Receivabla es $ (16.4) $ 42.5 $ (25.5)
Inventories 18.1 (82.8) (109.5)
Other current assets 7.2 (9.1) 4.9
Trade payabla es (21.4) (89.4) 142.9
Accruer d liabia lities, including payroll and benefits 28.4 (46.5) 56.3
Income taxes 4.1 (8.8) 21.7

$ 20.0 $ (194.1) $ 90.8

In addition, cash interest paid during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021 were $12.3 million, $9.3 million,
and $4.2 million, respectively. Total cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities at December 31, 2023 and 2022 was
$363.4 million and $481.8 million, respectively, of which $291.8 million and $472.1 million were held by the Company’s
foreign subsu idiaries, at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively.

7. Inventories

The following tabla e presents the components of the Company’s inventoryrr balances:

December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Finished products $ 177.7 $ 174.4
Work in process 44.2 42.1
Raw materials 322.6 349.2
Inventories, at FIFO cost 544.5 565.7
LIFO reserve (47.1) (49.3)
Inventories, at LIFO cost $ 497.4 $ 516.4

8. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Land $ 31.0 $ 28.5
Buildings 378.6 373.2
Equipment 865.9 822.5
Software 143.1 140.6

1,418.6 1,364.8
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (821.1) (774.1)
Net property, plant, and equipment $ 597.5 $ 590.7

41



9. Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Changes in the carrying amount of goodwill during the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 consisted of the following:

(dollars in millions)( ) North America Rest of World Total
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 568.9 $ 58.9 $ 627.8
Currency translation adjud stment (7.8) (0.3) (8.1)
Balance at December 31, 2022 561.1 58.6 619.7
Currency translation adjud stment 2.6 (0.1) 2.5
Acquisitions 11.2 — 11.2
Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 574.9 $ 58.5 $ 633.4

The carrying amount of other intangible assets consisted of the following:

2023 2022

December 31 (dollars in millions)( )

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Gross
Carrying
Amount

Accumulated
Amortization Net

Amortizable intangible assets:
Patents $ 3.7 $ (3.7) $ — $ 3.7 $ (3.7) $ —
Customer lists 286.4 (174.0) 112.4 288.6 (164.0) 124.6

Total amortizable intangible 290.1 (177.7) 112.4 292.3 (167.7) 124.6
Indefinite-lived intangible assets:

Trade names 224.3 — 224.3 223.3 — 223.3
Total intangible assets $ 514.4 $ (177.7) $ 336.7 $ 515.6 $ (167.7) $ 347.9

Amortization expenses of other intangible assets of $12.6 million, $12.8 million, and $12.3 million were recorded in 2023,
2022 and 2021, respectively. In the future, excluding the impact of any future acquisitions, the Company expects
amortization expense of approximately $12.6 million annually and the intangible assets will be amortized over a weighted-
average period of 11 years.

The Company concluded that no goodwill impairment existed at the time of the annual impairment tests which were
performed in the fourth quarters of 2023, 2022 and 2021. No impairments of other intangible assets were recorded in 2023,
2022 and 2021.

10. Debt

December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Revolving credit agreement borrowings, average year-end interest rates of 5.3% for 2022 $ — $ 185.4
Commercial papea r, average year-end interest rate of 4.6% for 2022 — 22.6
Term notes with insurance companies, expiring 2029-2034, average year-end interest rates of
3.1% for both 2023 and 2022 127.3 136.5

127.3 344.5
Long-term debt due within one year (10.0) (10.0)
Long-term debt $ 117.3 $ 334.5

In 2021, the Company renewed and amended its $500 million multi-year multi-currency revolving credit agreement with a
new expiration date of April 1, 2026. The facility has an accordion provision which allows it to be increased up to $850
million if certain conditions (including lender approval) are satisfieff d. Borrowings under the Company’s bank credit lines and
commercial papea r borrowings are supporu ted by the $500 million revolving credit agreement. At its option, the Company
either maintains cash balances or pays fees for bank credit and services. The Company has fixed-rate interest expense
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obligations of $16.6 million on outstanding debt as of December 31, 2023. Scheduled maturities of long-term debt within
each of the five years subsu equent to December 31, 2023 are as follows:

Years ending December 31 (dollars in millions)g ( ) Amount
2024 $ 10.0
2025 10.0
2026 28.5
2027 28.5
2028 13.2

11. Stockholders’ Equity

The Company’s authorized capital consists of three million shares of Preferff red Stock $1 par value, 27 million shares of
Class A Common Stock $5 par value, and 240 million shares of Common Stock $1 par value. The Common Stock has equal
dividend rights with Class A Common Stock and is entitled, as a class, to elect one-third of the Board of Directors and has
1/10th vote per share on all other matters. Class A Common Stock is convertible to Common Stock on a one for one basis.

There were 12,524 shares during 2023, 68,785 shares during 2022 and 64,072 shares during 2021, of Class A Common Stock
converted into Common Stock. Regular dividends paid on the A. O. Smith Corporation Class A Common Stock and
Common Stock amounted to $1.22, $1.14 and $1.06 per share in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

In 2023, the Board of Directors approved adding 7,500,000 shares of Common Stock to an existing discretionary share
repurchase authority. Under the share repurchase program, the Common Stock may be purchased through a combination of
Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading plan and discretionary purchases in accordance with applicable securities laws. The number of
shares purchased and the timing of the purchases will depend on a number of factors, including share price, trading volume
and general market conditions, as well as working capital requirements, general business conditions and other factors,
including alternative investment opportunities. The stock repurchase authorization remains effeff ctive until terminated by the
Company's Board of Directors which may occur at any time, subju ect to the parameters of any Rule 10b5-1 automatic trading
plan that we may then have in effeff ct. In 2023, the Company repurchased 4,377,000 shares at an average price of $70.03 per
share and at a total cost of $306.5 million. As of December 31, 2023, there were 3,501,462 shares remaining on the existing
repurchase authorization. In 2022, the Company repurchased 6,647,895 shares at a cost of $403.5 million. In 2021, the
Company repurchased 5,087,467 shares at a cost of $366.5 million.

At December 31, 2023, a total of 130,380 and 43,049,885 shares of Class A Common Stock and Common Stock,
respectively, were held as treasury stock. At December 31, 2022, a total of 130,380 and 39,398,135 shares of Class A
Common Stock and Common Stock, respectively, were held as treasuryrr stock.
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Changes to accumulated other comprehensive loss by component are as follows:

(dollars in millions) Years ended December 31,
2023 2022

Cumulative foreign currency translation
Balance at beginning of period $ (84.1) $ (44.7)
Other comprehensive gain (loss) before reclassifications 3.8 (39.4)
Balance at end of period (80.3) (84.1)

Unrealized net gain (loss) on cash flow derivatives
Balance at beginning of period 4.9 0.6
Other comprehensive gain before reclassifications 2.8 7.4
Realized gains on derivatives reclassified to cost of products sold (net of tax
provision of $2.2 and $1.0 in 2023 and 2022, respectively)(1) (7.0) (3.1)

Balance at end of period 0.7 4.9
Pension liabia lity

Balance at beginning of period (3.2) (287.3)
Other comprehensive (loss) gain before reclassifications (1.6) 19.8
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss(1) 0.2 264.3
Balance at end of period (4.6) (3.2)

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss, end of period $ (84.2) $ (82.4)

(1) Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss:
Realized gains on derivatives reclassified to cost of products sold $ (9.2) $ (4.1)
Tax provision 2.2 1.0
Reclassification net of tax $ (7.0) $ (3.1)
Amortization of pension items:
Actuarial losses $ 0.1 (2) $ 437.2 (2)

Prior year service cost 0.1 (2) (0.4) (2)

0.2 436.8
Tax benefit — (172.5)
Reclassification net of tax $ 0.2 $ 264.3

(2) These accumulated other comprehensive loss components are included in the computation of net periodic benefit cost.
See Note 13, “Pensions and Other Post-retirement Benefits” for additional details.

Included in the results for 2023 is $11.0 million of foreign currency translation losses reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss to Net earnings related to the Company's sale of its business in Turkey. See Note 5 - Restructurt ing and
Impairment for additional details.

12. Stock Based Compensation

The Company adopted the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan (the Incentive Plan) effeff ctive January 1,
2007, and the Incentive Plan was most recently reapproved by stockholders on April 15, 2020. The Incentive Plan is a
continuation of the A. O. Smith Combined Executive Incentive Compensation Plan which was originally approved by
stockholders in 2002. The number of shares availabla e for granting of options or share units at December 31, 2023, was
2,479,897 which includes 2,400,000 additional shares that were authorized on April 15, 2020 at the Company's annual
meeting of stockholders. Upon stock option exercise or share unit vesting, shares are issued from treasuryrr stock. Total stock
based compensation expense recognized in 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $11.5 million, $11.1 million and $11.9 million,
respectively.

11. Stockholders’ Equity (continued)
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Stock Options

Beginning in 2023, the Company no longer grants stock options. The stock options previously granted in 2022 and 2021 have
three year pro rata vesting from the date of grant. Stock options were issued at exercise prices equal to the fair value of the
Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant. For active employees, all options granted in 2022 and 2021 expire ten years
afteff r the date of grant. The Company’s stock options are expensed ratabla y over the three year vesting period; however,
included in the stock option expense recognized in 2022 and 2021 is expense associated with the accelerated vesting of stock
option awards for certain employees who either are retirement eligible or become retirement eligible during the vesting
period. Stock based compensation expense attributable to stock options for 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $1.2 million, $5.5
million and $5.1 million, respectively.

Changes in options, all of which relate to the Company’s Common Stock, were as follows:

Years Ended December 31 2023 2022 2021

Number of
Options

Weighted
Avg. Per
Share
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options

Weighted
Avg. Per
Share
Exercise
Price

Number of
Options

Weighted
Avg. Per
Share
Exercise
Price

Number of shares under options:
Outstanding at beginning of year 2,481,606 $ 51.22 2,252,498 $ 47.73 2,785,654 $ 43.01

Granted — — 322,460 74.11 368,780 60.85
Exercised(1) (600,344) 45.68 (66,697) 39.77 (889,345) 38.35
Forfeited (8,709) 66.96 (26,655) 61.46 (12,591) 49.18

Outstanding at end of year(2) 1,872,553 52.93 2,481,606 51.22 2,252,498 47.73
Exercisabla e at end of year(3) 1,549,749 49.51 1,675,552 46.88 1,191,795 45.71

(1) The total intrinsic value of options exercised in 2023, 2022 and 2021 was $15.0 million, $1.6 million and $31.0 million,
respectively.

(2) The weighted average remaining contractuat l life of options outstanding was 7 years at December 31, 2023, and
December 31, 2022, and 8 years at December 31, 2021, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options
outstanding at December 31, 2023 was $55.3 million.

(3) The weighted average remaining contractuat l lifeff of options exercisabla e was 6 years at December 31, 2023, and
December 31, 2022, and 7 years at December 31, 2021, respectively. The aggregate intrinsic value of options exercisabla e
at December 31, 2023 was $51.0 million.

Number of
Options

Weighted Avg.
Per

Share Exercise
Price

Nonvested options at beginning of year 806,054 $ 60.26
Vested (477,245) 54.05
Forfeited (6,005) 66.24

Nonvested options at end of year 322,804 69.33
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The weighted-average fair value per option at the date of grant during 2022 and 2021, using the Black-Scholes option-pricing
model, was $17.57 and $14.03, respectively. Assumptions were as follows:

2022 2021
Expected lifeff (years) 5.7 5.8
Risk-free interest rate 1.9 % 1.2 %
Dividend yield 1.5 % 1.6 %
Expected volatility 26.8 % 27.4 %

The expected lives of options for purposr es of these models are based on historical exercise behavior. The risk-free interest
rates for purposrr es of these models are based on the U.S. Treasuryrr yield in effeff ct on the date of grant for the respective
expected lives of the option. The expected dividend yields for purposes of these models are based on the dividends paid in the
preceding four quarters divided by the grant date market value of the Common Stock. The expected volatility for purposr es of
these models is based on the historical volatility of the Common Stock.

Share Units

Participants in the Incentive Plan may also be awarded share units. Share units vest three years afteff r the date of grant. The
Company granted 168,807, 94,731 and 104,312 share units under the Incentive Plan in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

The share units were valued at $11.3 million, $7.0 million and $6.4 million at the date of issuance in 2023, 2022 and 2021,
respectively, based on the price of the Company’s Common Stock at the date of grant. The share units are recognized as
compensation expense ratabla y over the three-year vesting period; however, included in share unit expense was expense
associated with accelerated vesting of share unit awards for certain employees who are retirement eligible or will become
retirement eligible during the vesting period. Stock based compensation expense attributable to share units of $9.6 million,
$5.6 million and $6.8 million was recognized in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Certain non-U.S.-based employees
receive the cash value of the share price at the vesting date in lieu of shares. Unvested cash-settled awards are remeasured at
each reporting period.

A summary of share unit activity under the Incentive Plan is as follows:

Number of Units

Weighted-
Average

Grant Date Value
Issued and unvested at January 1, 2023 379,919 $ 52.92
Granted 168,807 67.18
Vested (160,828) 49.48
Forfeited (6,709) 66.27
Issued and unvested at December 31, 2023 381,189 63.33

Perforff mance Stock Units

Beginning in 2023, certain executives may be awarded performance stock units under the Incentive Plan. Performance stock
units vest over three years following the date of the grant. Perforff mance stock units vest under a set of measurement criteria
which are based upon achievement of certain Environmental, Social, and Governance targets. Potential payouts range from
zero to 150 percent of the target awards and changes from target amounts are reflected as performance adjud stments. The
Company granted 24,580 performance stock units under the Incentive Plan in 2023.

The performance stock units were valued at $1.7 million at the date of issuance in 2023, based on the price of the Company’s
Common Stock at the date of grant of $67.14. The performance stock units are recognized as compensation expense ratabla y
over the three-year vesting period. Stock based compensation expense attributable to performance stock units of $0.7 million
was recognized in 2023. Certain non-U.S.-based executives receive the cash value of the share price at the vesting date in lieu
of shares. Unvested cash-settled awards are remeasured at each reporting period.
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A summary of stock unit activity under the Incentive Plan is as follows:

Number of
Units

Weighted-
Average
Grant Date
Value

Issued and unvested at January 1, 2023 — $ —
Granted 24,580 67.14
Forfeited (557) 67.14
Performance adjud stments 10,735 67.14
Issued and unvested at December 31, 2023 34,758 67.14

13. Pension and Other Post-retirement Benefits

The Company provides retirement benefits for all U.S. employees including benefits for employees of previously owned
businesses which were earned up to the date of sale. The Company also has two foreign pension plans, neither of which is
material to the Company’s financial position.

The Company has a defined contribution plan which matches 100 percent of the first one percent of contributions made by
participating employees and matches 50 percent of the next five percent of employee contributions. In addition, the Company
has defined contribution plans for certain hourly employees which provide for matching Company contributions.

The Company had a defined benefit plan for salaried employees and its non-union hourly workforce. In 2009, the Company
announced U.S. employees hired afteff r January 1, 2010, would not participate in the defined benefit plan, and benefit accruarr ls
for the majoa rity of current salaried and hourly employees sunset on December 31, 2014. An additional Company contribution
is made to the defined contribution plan in lieu of benefits earned in a defined benefit plan. The Company also has defined
benefit and contribution plans for certain union hourly employees.

In 2021, the Company's Board of Directors approved the termination of the defined benefit pension plan (the Plan) with a
termination date of December 31, 2021. The Plan represented over 95 percent of the Company's pension plan liability. In
2022, the Company received a determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) that allowed the Company to
proceed with the termination process. The Company settled approximately $169 million of Plan liabia lities through lump-sum
payments from existing plan assets to eligible participants who elected to receive them and settled approximately
$463 million of Plan liabilities by entering into an agreement to purchase annuities from Mass Mutual Life Insurance
Company (MML). The irrevocable agreement with MML covers approximately 7,000 active and former employees and their
beneficiaries, with MML assuming the future annuity payments for these individuals commencing March 1, 2023. These
settlements resulted in $417.3 million of pretax expense in 2022, partially offsff et by approximately $167.7 million in related
tax benefits. In 2023, the Company realized pre-tax pension settlement income of $0.9 million, of which $0.7 million was
recorded in the North America segment and $0.2 million in Corporate Expense, and included $0.2 million in related tax
benefits. The pension settlement income related to refunds from MML to the Plan for the reconciliation of participant data
and was partially offsff et by settlement accounting adjud stments. The remaining pension assets associated with the Plan at
December 31, 2023 were $22.6 million. The Company intends to use the remaining assets to fund future non-elective
contributions to the Company’s defined contribution plan.

The Company has unfundeff d defined-benefit post-retirement plans covering certain hourly and salaried employees that
provide medical and life insurance benefits from retirement to age 65. Certain hourly employees retiring afteff r January 1,
1996, are subju ect to a maximum annual benefit and salaried employees hired afteff r December 31, 1993, are not eligible for
post-retirement medical benefits.

Obligations and Funded Status

Pension and Post-retirement Disclosure Information

The following tabla es present the changes in benefit obligations, plan assets and funded statust for domestic pension and post-
retirement plans and the components of net periodic benefit costs.
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Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Accumulated benefit obligation (ABO) at December 31 $ (26.3) $ (27.7) N/A N/A
Change in projected benefit obligations (PBO)
PBO at beginning of year $ (28.3) $ (842.1) $ (1.7) $ (2.2)
Service cost (0.9) (1.4) — —
Interest cost (1.2) (14.5) (0.1) (0.1)
Participant contributions — — (0.1) (0.1)
Actuarial (loss) gain including assumption changes (1.1) 147.6 — (0.2)
Benefitsff paid 4.8 219.3 0.2 0.9
Transferff to insurer — 462.8 — —
PBO at end of year $ (26.7) $ (28.3) $ (1.7) $ (1.7)
Change in fair value of plan assets
Plan assets at beginning of year $ 45.2 $ 825.9 $ — $ —
Actual return on plan assets 0.6 (99.1) — —
Contribution by the Company 0.5 0.5 0.1 0.8
Participant contributions — — 0.1 0.1
Benefitsff paid (4.8) (219.3) (0.2) (0.9)
Transferff related to plan termination (21.2) — — —
Transferff to insurer — (462.8) — —
Plan assets at end of year $ 20.3 $ 45.2 $ — $ —
Funded status $ (6.4) $ 16.9 $ (1.7) $ (1.7)
Amount recognized in the balance sheet
Noncurrent assets $ 4.4 $ 27.1 $ — $ —
Current liabia lities (0.5) (0.5) (0.2) (0.2)
Non-current liabia lities (10.3) (9.7) (1.5) (1.5)
Net pension (liabia lity) asset at end of year $ (6.4) * $ 16.9 * $ (1.7) $ (1.7)
Amounts recognized in accumulated other
comprehensive loss before tax
Net actuat rial loss $ 6.7 $ 5.2 $ 0.3 $ 0.2
Prior service cost 1.9 2.1 (1.8) (2.3)
Total recognized in accumulated other comprehensive loss $ 8.6 $ 7.3 $ (1.5) $ (2.1)

*In addition, the Company has a liabia lity for a foreign pension plan of $0.3 million at December 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively.

The actuat rial loss in the current year for the pension plan was primarily due to the change in the discount rate.
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Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
Net periodic cost (benefitff )
Service cost $ 0.9 $ 1.4 $ 1.6 $ — $ — $ —
Interest cost 1.2 14.5 14.5 0.1 0.1 0.1
Expected return on plan assets (1.0) (21.5) (48.0) — — —
Amortization of unrecognized:

Net actuat rial loss 0.1 19.9 20.3 — — —
Prior service cost 0.1 (0.4) (0.4) (0.5) (0.5) (0.5)

Defined-benefit plan expense (income) 1.3 13.9 (12.0) (0.4) (0.4) $ (0.4)
Pension settlement (income) expense (0.9) 417.3 — — — —
Various U.S. defined contribution plans cost 16.5 15.3 14.6 — — —

$ 16.9 $ 446.5 $ 2.6 $ (0.4) $ (0.4) $ (0.4)

Other changes in plan assets and projected benefit
obligation recognized in other comprehensive loss
Net actuat rial loss (gain) $ 1.5 $ (27.0) $ 38.1 $ — $ 0.2 $ (0.6)
Amortization of net actuat rial loss (0.1) (19.9) (20.3) — — —
Settlement loss — (417.3) — — — —
Amortization of prior service cost (0.1) 0.4 0.4 0.5 0.5 0.5
Total recognized in other comprehensive loss 1.3 (463.8) 18.2 0.5 0.7 (0.1)
Total recognized in net periodic cost (benefitff ) and
other comprehensive loss $ 1.7 $ (32.6) $ 6.2 $ 0.1 $ 0.3 $ (0.5)

The 2023 and 2022 afteff r tax adjud stments for additional minimum pension liability resulted in other comprehensive (loss) gain
of $(1.4) million and $284.1 million, respectively.

Actuarial assumptions used to determine benefit obligations at December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
2023 2022 2023 2022

Discount rate 4.96 % 5.13 % 4.89 % 5.02 %

Actuarial assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost for the year ended December 31 are as follows:

Pension Benefits Post-retirement Benefits
Years ended December 31 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
Discount rate 5.15 % 2.80 % 2.47 % 5.09 % 2.44 % 2.05 %
Expected long-term return on plan assets 5.25 % 3.12 % 6.25 % N/A N/A N/A
Rate of compensation increase 4.00 % 4.00 % 4.00 % N/A N/A 4.00 %

Assumed health care cost trend rates

Health care inflation assumptions are no longer needed as all remaining retiree medical benefits are fixed subsu idies or
reimbursements.
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Plan Assets

The Company’s pension plan weighted asset allocations as of December 31 by asset categoryrr are as follows:

Asset Categoryyrrg y 2023 2022
Equity securities 17 % 8 %
Debt securities 70 27
Private equity 12 5
Cash 1 60

100 % 100 %

The following tabla es present the fair value measurement of the Company’s plan assets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022
(dollars in millions):

December 31, 2023

Asset Categoryyrg y Total

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Contracts

(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant Non-
observabla e Inputs

(Level 3)
Short-term investments $ 0.2 $ 0.2 $ — $ —
Equity securities

Common stocks 2.5 2.5 — —
Fixed income securities

U.S. Treasuryrr securities 6.7 0.6 6.1 —
Other fixed income securities 7.4 — 7.4 —

Other types of investments

Mutual funds 1.0 — 1.0 —
Private equity 2.4 — — 2.4

Total fair value of plan asset investments $ 20.2 $ 3.3 $ 14.5 $ 2.4
Non-investment plan assets 0.1

Total plan assets $ 20.3

December 31, 2022

Asset Categoryyrg y Total

Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Identical Contracts

(Level 1)

Significant Other
Observable Inputs

(Level 2)

Significant Non-
observabla e Inputs

(Level 3)
Short-term investments $ 26.9 $ 26.9 $ — $ —
Equity securities

Common stocks 3.7 3.7 — —
Fixed income securities

U.S. Treasuryrr securities 8.6 8.6 — —
Other fixed income securities 2.7 — 2.7 —

Other types of investments

Mutual funds 0.8 — 0.8 —
Private equity 2.2 — — 2.2

Total fair value of plan asset investments $ 44.9 $ 39.2 $ 3.5 $ 2.2
Non-investment plan assets 0.3

Total plan assets $ 45.2
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The short-term investments included in the Company’s plan assets consist of cash and cash equivalents. The fair value of the
remaining categories of the Company’s plan assets are valued as follows: equity securities are valued using the closing stock
price on a national securities exchange, which reflects the last reported sales price on the last business day of the year; fixed
income securities are valued using institutional bond quotes, which are based on various market and industryrr inputs; mutual
funds and real estate funds are valued using the net asset value of the fund, which is based on the fair value of the underlying
securities; Options are valued using the closings market value on the last day of the year; and private equity investments are
valued at the estimated fair value at the previous quarter end, which is based on the proportionate share of the underlying
portfolff io investments.

The following tabla e presents a reconciliation of the fair value measurements using significant unobservabla e inputs (Level 3)
as of December 31, 2023 and 2022 (dollars in millions):

Private
equity

Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 5.1
Actual (loss) return on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date (2.8)
Relating to assets sold during the period (0.2)
Purchases, sales and settlements 0.1

Balance at December 31, 2022 2.2
Actual return (loss) on plan assets:

Relating to assets still held at the reporting date 3.9
Relating to assets sold during the period (3.6)
Purchases, sales and settlements (0.3)
Transferff s in and/or out 0.2

Balance at December 31, 2023 $ 2.4

The Company’s investment policies employ an approach whereby a diversifieff d blend of equity and bond investments is used
to maximize the long-term return of plan assets for a prudr ent level of risk. Equity investments are diversifieff d across domestic
and non-domestic stocks, as well as growth, value, and small to large capitalizations. Bond investments include corporate and
government issues, with short, mid, and long-term maturities, with a focus on investment-grade when purchased. In
preparation for the Plan settlement, which we completed in the fourth quarter of 2022, the target allocation to bonds managers
is between 60 to 95 percent with the remainder allocated primarily to equities, private equity managers and cash. Investment
and market risks are measured and monitored on an ongoing basis through regular investment portfolff io reviews, annual
liabia lity measurements and periodic asset/liabia lity studit es.

The Company’s actual asset allocations are in line with target allocations. The Company regularly reviews its actual asset
allocation and periodically rebalances its investments to the targeted allocation when considered appropriate.

There was no Company stock included in plan assets at December 31, 2023.

Cash Flows

The Company was not required to and did not make any contributions in 2023 to the Plan. The Company is not required to
make a contribution in 2024.
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Estimated Future Payments

As of December 31, 2023, the following benefit payments, which reflect expected future service, as appropriate, are expected
to be paid:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( )
Pension
Benefits

Post-retirement
Benefits

2024 $ 0.8 $ 0.2
2025 0.8 0.2
2026 0.9 0.2
2027 5.2 0.2
2028 5.8 0.2
2029 – 2033 6.3 0.7

14. Derivative Instruments

The Company utilizes certain derivative instruments to enhance its ability to manage currency exposure as well as raw
materials price risk. Derivative instruments are entered into for periods consistent with the related underlying exposures and
do not constitutt e positions independent of those exposures. The Company does not enter into contracts for speculative
purposrr es. The contracts are executed with majoa r financial institutions with no credit loss anticipated for failure of the
counterpar rties to perform.

Cash Flow Hedgesg

With the exception of its net investment hedges, the Company designates all of its hedging instruments as cash flow hedges.
For derivative instruments that are designated and qualify as a cash flow hedge (i.e., hedging the exposure to variability in
expected future cash flows that is attributable to a particular risk), gains or losses on the derivative instrument are reported as
a component of other comprehensive loss, net of tax, and are reclassified into earnings in the same line item associated with
the forecasted transaction and in the same period or periods during which the hedged transaction affeff cts earnings.

Foreigngg Currencyc Forward Contrat ctstt

The Company is exposed to foreign currency exchange risk as a result of transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of certain subsu idiaries. The Company utilizes foreign currency forward purchase and sale contracts to manage the
volatility associated with foreign currency purchases, sales and certain intercompany transactions in the normal course of
business. Principal currencies for which the Company utilizes foreign currency forward contracts include the British pound,
Canadian dollar, Euro and Mexican peso.

Gains and losses on these instruments are recorded in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax, until the underlying
transaction is recorded in earnings. When the hedged item is realized, gains or losses are reclassified from accumulated other
comprehensive loss to the consolidated statement of earnings. The assessment of effeff ctiveness for forward contracts is based
on changes in the forward rates. These hedges have been determined to be effeff ctive.

The majoa rity of the amounts in accumulated other comprehensive loss for cash flow hedges are expected to be reclassified
into earnings within one year. The combined fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts was an asset balance of $0.9
million as of December 31, 2023 which was recorded in Other current assets within the consolidated balance sheet. The
combined fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts was an asset balance of $6.4 million as of December 31, 2022
and recorded in Other current assets within the consolidated balance sheet.
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The following tabla e summarizes, by currency, the contractuat l amounts of the Company’s foreign currency forward contracts
that are designated as cash flow hedges:

December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Buy Sell Buy Sell

Canadian dollar $ — $ 80.5 $ — $ 76.8
Euro 24.1 — 30.2 —
Mexican peso 14.2 — 15.7 —

Total $ 38.3 $ 80.5 $ 45.9 $ 76.8

Net Investment Hedgesg

The Company enters into certain foreign currency forward contracts to hedge the exposure to a portion of the Company’s net
investments in certain non-U.S. subsu idiaries against the effeff ct of exchange rate fluctuations on the translation of foreign
currency balances to the U.S. dollar. For the derivative instruments that are designated and qualifyff as net investment hedges,
gains and losses are reported in other comprehensive loss where they offsff et gains and losses recorded on the Company’s net
investments in its non-U.S. subsu idiaries. These hedges are determined to be effeff ctive. The Company recognized ($1.8)
million of afteff r tax losses and $1.4 million of afteff r-tax gains associated with hedges of a net investment in non-U.S.
subsu idiaries in currency translation adjud stment in other comprehensive income in 2023 and 2022, respectively. The
contractuat l amount of the Company’s foreign currency forward contracts that are designated as net investment hedges was
$204.0 million as of December 31, 2023. The combined fair value of the net investment hedges was a liabia lity balance of
($4.2) million as of December 31, 2023 which was recorded in Accruer d liabia lities within the consolidated balance sheet. The
combined fair value of the foreign currency forward contracts was zero as of December 31, 2022.

The effeff ct of cash flow hedges on the consolidated statement of earnings:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions):

Derivatives in ASC 815 cash flow
hedging relationships

Amount of gain
recognized in other
comprehensive loss on

derivatives

Location of gain
reclassified from
accumulated other

comprehensive loss into
earnings

Amount of gain
reclassified

from accumulated
other comprehensive
loss into earnings

2023 2022 2023 2022
Foreign currency contracts $ 3.7 $ 9.8 Cost of products sold $ 9.2 $ 4.1

Balance Sheet Hedgesg

Foreigngg Exchange Contratt ctstt

The Company periodically enters into foreign exchange contracts to mitigate the foreign currency volatility relative to certain
intercompany loans. These foreign exchange contracts did not qualifyff for hedge accounting in accordance with ASC 815 and
as such were marked to market through earnings. The combined fair value of the foreign exchange contracts was a liabia lity
balance of ($0.8) million as of December 31, 2023 which was recorded in Accruer d liabia lities within the consolidated balance
sheet. The combined fair value of the foreign exchange contracts was an asset balance of $0.1 million as of December 31,
2022 and recorded in Other current assets within the consolidated balance sheet.

The following tabla e summarizes the contractuat l amounts of the Company's foreign exchange contracts that are designated as
balance sheet hedges:

December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Buy Sell Buy Sell

Canadian dollar $ 44.1 $ — $ — $ 81.5
Chinese yuan 206.8 — — —

Total $ 250.9 $ — $ — $ 81.5
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The amounts recognized within the consolidated statements of earnings related to the Company's foreign exchange contracts
are set forth below.

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)

Derivatives not designated as hedging
instruments:

Location of gain within the
consolidated statements of earnings 2023 2022 2021

Foreign exchange contracts Other (income) expense - net $ (3.7) $ 1.2 $ (0.9)

15. Income Taxes

The components of the provision for (benefitff from) income taxes consisted of the following:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021
Current:

Federal $ 124.9 $ 101.8 $ 92.2
State 28.3 26.6 22.4
International 27.5 30.5 29.5

Deferred:
Federal (4.8) (136.9) (3.2)
State (1.8) (34.1) (0.6)
International 2.8 0.1 (1.8)

$ 176.9 $ (12.0) $ 138.5

The provision for (benefitff from) income taxes differs from the U.S. federal statutt oryrr rate due to the following items:

Years ended December 31 2023 2022 2021
Provision at U.S. federal statutt oryrr rate(1) 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
State taxes, net of federal benefit(1) 2.8 2.7 2.8
U.S pension plan settlement expense(1) — (29.5) —
International income tax rate differff ential—China (1.2) (4.6) (1.6)
International income tax rate differff ential—other 1.3 3.5 0.7
Research tax credits (0.4) (1.0) (0.4)
Excess tax benefit on stock compensation (0.4) (0.5) (0.9)
Other 1.0 3.0 0.5

24.1 % (5.4)% 22.1 %

(1) Included in 2022 is tax effeff cts of the pension plan settlement expense associated with the termination of the Plan. Refer to
Note 13, “Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits” for more information. A tax benefit of $101.9 million on the pretax
expense were reflected in computed tax provision at U.S. federal statutt oryrr rate and state taxes, net of federal tax benefit for
2022. In 2022, the tax benefit of $65.8 million or a 29.5 percent benefit related to the release of stranded tax effeff cts in
AOCL through the income statement was reflected in U.S. pension plan settlement expense.

Components of earnings before income taxes were as follows:

Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021
U.S. $ 596.4 $ 63.9 $ 479.0
International 137.1 159.8 146.6

$ 733.5 $ 223.7 $ 625.6

Our 2022 provision for income taxes included $167.7 million of tax benefit related to the effeff ctive settlement of the Plan,
$101.9 million of which was the related tax effeff ct on the pretax expense of $417.3 million and $65.8 million of which was
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related to the release of stranded tax effeff cts in AOCL through the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act. Refer to Note 13, “Pension and
Other Postretirement Benefits,” for more information.

The Company paid income taxes of $189.5 million, $175.4 million, and $131.2 million in 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Undistributed earnings of the Company’s foreign subsu idiaries amounted to $648.9 million at December 31, 2023. The
Company had $5.1 million accrued for its estimate of withholding taxes due upon repatriation of approximately
$156.8 million of foreign earnings it considers not permanently reinvested as of December 31, 2023. The Company considers
$492.1 million of the total undistributed earnings to be permanently reinvested as a result of various factors including
imposition of statutt oryrr restrictions at certain jurisdictions that prohibit the repatriation of a portion of the earnings.
Accordingly, no provision for state, local and foreign withholding income taxes has been provided thereon. Upon repatriation
of those earnings, in the form of dividends or otherwise, the Company would be subju ect to state and local taxes, and
withholding taxes payabla e to the various foreign countries. The Company expects to be able to take a 100 percent dividend
received deduction to offsff et any US federal income tax liabia lity. Determination of the amount of unrecognized state and local
deferred income tax liabia lity and associated foreign withholding taxes is not practicable due to the complexities associated
with its hypothetical calculation.

The tax effeff cts of temporaryrr differences of assets and liabilities between income tax and financial reporting are as follows:

December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabia lities

Employee benefits $ 12.9 $ — $ 13.9 $ —
Product liability and warranties 52.1 — 50.7 —
Inventories 3.0 — 1.4 —
Accounts receivabla e 13.3 — 14.6 —
Property, plant and equipment — 52.4 — 51.5
Intangibles — 62.4 — 66.2
Environmental liabia lities 1.5 — 1.6 —
Undistributed foreign earnings — 5.1 — 5.3
Tax loss and credit carryovers 12.3 — 10.1 —
All other 17.6 — 14.0 —
Valuation allowance (11.7) — (8.3) —

$ 101.0 $ 119.9 $ 98.0 $ 123.0
Net liabia lity $ 18.9 $ 25.0

The Company believes it is more likely than not that it will realize its net deferred tax assets through the reduction of future
taxabla e income. The Company considered historical operating results in determining the probabia lity of the realization of the
deferred tax assets.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of tax loss carryovers, credit carryovers and valuation allowances is as
follows:

Net Operating Losses and
Tax Credits Valuation Allowances

December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2023 2022
Beginning balance $ 10.1 $ 8.9 $ 8.3 $ 7.1
Increases 2.2 1.2 3.4 1.2
Ending balance $ 12.3 $ 10.1 $ 11.7 $ 8.3

The Company has foreign net operating loss carryovers that expire in 2025 through 2029, with some net operating losses
being carried forward indefinitely and state and local net operating loss carryovers that are carried forward indefinitely.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized benefits is as follows:

(Dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022
Balance at January 1 $ 15.0 $ 14.3
Additions for tax positions of prior years 2.2 0.7
Balance at December 31 $ 17.2 $ 15.0

The amount of unrecognized tax benefits that, if recognized, would affeff ct the effeff ctive income tax rate is $3.5 million. The
Company recognizes potential interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits as a component of income tax
expense. At December 31, 2023, there was an immaterial amount of interest and penalties accruerr d. The Company anticipates
that there will not be a material decrease in the total amount of unrecognized tax benefits in 2024. The Company’s U.S.
federal income tax returns and its U.S. state and local income tax returns are subju ect to audit for the years 2017-2023 and
2006-2023, respectively. The Company is subju ect to examinations in foreign tax jurisdictions for the years 2017-2023. If the
examinations at certain foreign tax jurisdictions are resolved unfavff orably, there could be additional assessments imposed by
the relevant authorities.

16. Commitments and Contingencies

Environmental Contingencies

The Company is a potentially responsible party in judicial and administrative proceedings seeking to clean up sites which
have been environmentally impacted. In each case, the Company has establa ished reserves, insurance proceeds and/or a
potential recovery from third parties. The Company believes any environmental claims will not have a material effeff ct on its
financial position or results of operations.

Product Liability

The Company is subju ect to various claims and pending lawsuits for product liabia lity and other matters arising out of the
conduct of the Company’s business. For product liabia lity claims, the Company self insures a portion of its product liabia lity
loss exposure. The Company has establa ished reserves and insurance coverage that it believes are adequate to cover incurred
claims. For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company had $125 million of product liability insurance for
individual losses in excess of $7.5 million. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, the reserve for product liabia lity was $30.5
million and $31.7 million, respectively. The Company periodically reevaluates its exposure on claims and lawsuits and makes
adjud stments to its reserves as appropriate. The Company believes, based on current knowledge, consultation with counsel,
adequate reserves and insurance coverage that the outcome of such claims and lawsuits will not have a material adverse effeff ct
on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Purchase Obligations

The Company utilizes blanket purchase orders to communicate expected annual requirements to certain supplu iers.
Requirements under blanket purchase orders generally do not become committed until several weeks prior to the scheduled
unit production. The purchase obligations the Company considers firm as of December 31, 2023, is $213.5 million, most of
which will be ordered in 2024.

Inventory Repure chase Arrangementstt

The Company maintains a commercial relationship with a supplu y-chain service provider (the Provider) in connection with the
Company’s business in China. In this capacity, the Provider offeff rs order-entry, warehousing and logistics supporu t. The
Provider also offeff rs asset-backed financing to certain of the Company’s distributors in China to facilitate their working
capital needs. To facilitate its financing supporu t business, the Provider has collateralized lending facilities in place with
multiple Chinese banks under which the Company has agreed to repurchase inventoryrr if both requested by the banks and
certain defined conditions are met, primarily related to the aging of the distributors’ notes.

The Provider is required to indemnifyff the Company for any losses the Company would incur in the event of an inventoryrr
repurchase under these arrangements. Potential losses under the repurchase arrangements represent the difference between
the repurchase price and net proceeds from the resale of product plus costs incurred in the process, less related distributor
rebates.

Before considering any reduction of distributor rebate accruals of $0.6 million and $1.1 million as of December 31, 2023 and
December 31, 2022, respectively, and from the resale of the related inventory,rr the gross amount the Company would be
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obligated to repurchase, which would be contingent on the default of all of the outstanding loans, was approximately $0.8
million and $2.4 million as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. The Company’s reserves for
estimated losses under repurchase arrangements were immaterial as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022.

Legale Judgment Income

On September 28, 2022, the Company received a cash judgment of $11.5 million from a competitor of our North America
segment related to its infringement of one of the Company’s patents. The terms of the judgment resulted in pre-tax income of
$11.5 million which is recorded as an offsff et to selling, general and administrative expenses and a related tax expense of
$2.9 million.

17. Operations by Segment

The Company is comprised of two reporting segments: North America and Rest of World. The Rest of World segment is
primarily comprised of China, Europe and India. Both segments manufactff urt e and market comprehensive lines of residential
and commercial gas and electric water heaters, boilers, tanks and water treatment products. Both segments primarily
manufactff urt e and market in their respective regions of the world.

The accounting policies of the reportabla e segments are the same as those described in the “Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” outlined in Note 1. Segment earnings, defined by the Company as earnings before interest, taxes,
general corporate and corporate research and development expenses, were used to measure the performance of the segments.

Net Sales Earnings
Years ended December 31 (dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 (1) 2021
North America $ 2,922.9 $ 2,819.1 $ 2,529.5 $ 726.7 $ 266.0 $ 590.8
Rest of World 956.9 965.8 1,036.5 83.4 96.3 91.4
Inter-segment (27.0) (31.0) (27.1) (0.5) (0.3) (0.2)
Total segments – sales, segment earnings $ 3,852.8 $ 3,753.9 $ 3,538.9 $ 809.6 $ 362.0 $ 682.0
Corporrr ate expenses (64.1) (128.9) (52.1)
Interest expense (12.0) (9.4) (4.3)
Earnings before income taxes 733.5 223.7 625.6
Provision for (benefitff from) income taxes 176.9 (12.0) 138.5
Net earnings $ 556.6 $ 235.7 $ 487.1
(1) The Company recognized a pre-tax pension settlement expense of $346.8 million in the North America segment and

$70.5 million within Corporate expenses. The provision for (benefitff from) income taxes includes a tax benefit of
($167.7 million) related to the pension settlement. For additional information, see Note 13, “Pension and Other Post-
retirement Benefits.”

In 2023, sales to the Company's North America segment’s two largest customers were $604.5 million and $509.0 million
which represented 16 percent and 13 percent of the Company’s net sales, respectively. In 2022, sales to the Company's North
America segment’s two largest customers were $596.4 million and $414.2 million which represented 16 percent and 11
percent of the Company’s net sales, respectively. In 2021, sales to the Company's North America segment’s two largest
customers were $536.9 million and $401.5 million which represented 15 percent and 11 percent of the Company’s net sales,
respectively.

Assets, depreciation and capital expenditures by segment

Total Assets (December 31)

Depreciation and
Amortization (Years Ended

December 31)
Capia tal Expenditures (Years
Ended December 31)

(dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
North America $2,297.4 $2,230.3 $2,181.9 $ 58.6 $ 55.7 $ 52.2 $ 58.4 $ 48.6 $ 48.0
Rest of World 475.0 597.7 792.7 18.3 20.5 25.1 11.0 10.9 15.8
Corporrr ate 441.5 504.3 499.8 1.4 0.7 0.6 3.2 10.8 11.3
Total $3,213.9 $3,332.3 $3,474.4 $ 78.3 $ 76.9 $ 77.9 $ 72.6 $ 70.3 $ 75.1
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The majoa rity of corporate assets consist of cash, cash equivalents, marketable securities and deferred income taxes.

Net sales and long-lived assets by geographic location

The following data by geographic area includes net sales based on product shipment destination and long-lived assets based
on physical location. Long-lived assets include net property, plant and equipment, operating lease assets and other long-term
assets.

Long-lived Assets (December 31) Net Sales (Years Ended December 31)
(dollars in millions)( ) 2023 2022 2021 2023 2022 2021
United States $ 422.6 $ 409.8 $ 366.2 United States $ 2,547.1 $ 2,430.0 $ 2,239.1
China 210.6 225.2 259.9 China 827.4 826.6 912.6
Canada 58.1 54.7 59.1 Canada 335.3 341.6 247.2
Other Foreign 52.1 41.3 44.0 Other Foreign 143.0 155.7 140.0
Total $ 743.4 $ 731.0 $ 729.2 Total $ 3,852.8 $ 3,753.9 $ 3,538.9

ITEM 9 – CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND
FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None.

ITEM 9A – CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, has evaluated the
effeff ctiveness of our disclosure controls and procedurd es (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended (“the Exchange Act”)) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on the evaluation, our
Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer have concluded that, as of the end of such period our disclosure controls
and procedurd es are effeff ctive in recording, processing, summarizing, and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to
be disclosed by us in the reports that we file or submu it under the Exchange Act, and that information is accumulated and
communicated to the Chief Executive Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, as appropriate, to allow timely discussions
regarding required disclosure.

Management Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establa ishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined
in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f)). The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is designed to provide reasonabla e
assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposr es in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive
Offiff cer and Chief Financial Offiff cer, has evaluated the effeff ctiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on
the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission. Based on this evaluation, our management has concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal control
over financial reporting was effeff ctive.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effeff ctiveness to future periods are subju ect to risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate. Ernst &
Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has audited our consolidated financial statements and the
effeff ctiveness of internal controls over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023 as stated in their report which is included
herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company’s internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rule
13a-15(f)) during the year ended December 31, 2023 that have materially affeff cted, or are reasonabla y likely to materially
affeff ct, our internal control over financial reporting.
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ITEM 9B – OTHER INFORMATION

During the three months ended December 31, 2023, none of our directors or Section 16 offiff cers adopted or terminated a
“RulRR e 10b5-1trading arrangement” or “non-Rule 10b5-1 trading arrangement,” as each term is defined in Item 408(a) of
Regulation S-K.

ITEM 9C – DISCLOSURE REGARDING FOREIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS

None.

59



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of A. O. Smith Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited A. O. Smith Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on
criteria establa ished in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, A. O. Smith Corporation (the Company)
maintained, in all material respects, effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on the
COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Publu ic Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated
statements of earnings, comprehensive earnings, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) and our
report dated Februar ry 13, 2024 expressed an unqualifieff d opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effeff ctiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to
be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform
the audit to obtain reasonabla e assurance about whether effeff ctive internal control over financial reporting was maintained in
all material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effeff ctiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk,
and performing such other procedurd es as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonabla e basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the
reliabia lity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposr es in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedurd es
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonabla e detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonabla e assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to
permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effeff ct on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effeff ctiveness to future periods are subju ect to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedurd es may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Milwaukee, Wisconsin
Februar ry 13, 2024
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PART III

ITEM 10 – DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATRR E GOVERNANCE,

The information included under the headings “Election of Directors” and “Board Committees” in our definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
under Regulation 14A within 120 days afteff r the end of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference. The
information required regarding Executive Offiff cers of the Company is included in Part I of this Annual Report on Form 10-K
under the caption “Executive Offiff cers of the Company.”

We have a separately designated Audit Committee on which Idelle K. Wolf,ff Michael M. Larsen and Christopher L. Mapea s
serve, with Ms. Wolf,ff as Chairperson. All members are independent under applicable SEC and New York Stock Exchange
rules; the Board of Directors of the Company has concluded that Mr. Larsen and Ms. Wolf are “audit committee financial
experts” in accordance with SEC rules.

We have adopted a Financial Code of Ethics applicable to our principal executive offiff cer, principal financial offiff cer and
principal accounting offiff cer. As a best practice, this code has been executed by key financial and accounting personnel as
well. In addition, we have adopted a general code of business conduct for our directors, offiff cers and all employees, which is
known as the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles. The Financial Code of Ethics, the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles and other
company corporate governance matters are availabla e on our website at www.aosmith.com. We are not including the
information contained on our website as a part of or incorporating it by reference into, this Form 10-K. We intend to disclose
on this website any amendments to, or waivers from, the Financial Code of Ethics or the A. O. Smith Guiding Principles that
are required to be disclosed pursuant to SEC rules. There have been no waivers of the Financial Code of Ethics or the A. O.
Smith Guiding Principles. Stockholders may obtain copies of any of these corporate governance documents free of charge by
writing to the Corporate Secretaryrr at the address on the cover page of this Form 10-K.

The information included under the heading “Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act” in our
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the SEC under Regulation 14A
within 120 days afteff r the end of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 11 – EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information included under the headings “Executive Compensation,” “Director Compensation,” “Report of the Personnel
and Compensation Committee” and “Compensation Committee Interlocks and Insider Participation” in the Company’s
definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the SEC under Regulation 14A
within 120 days afteff r the end of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference.
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ITEM 12 – SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND
RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information included under the headings “Principal Stockholders” and “Security Ownership of Directors and
Management” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the SEC
under Regulation 14A within 120 days afteff r the end of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference.

Equity Compensation Plan Information

The following tabla e provides information about our equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2023.

Plan Categoryyrrg y

Number of securities to
be issued upon the

exercise of outstanding
options, warrants and

rights

Weighted-average
exercise

price of outstanding
options,

warrants and rights

Number of securities
remaining availabla e for
future issuance under
equity compensation
plans (excluding

securities reflected in
the first column)

Equity compensation plans approved
by security holders 2,450,220 (1) $ 52.93 (2) 2,479,897 (3)

Equity compensation plans not
approved by security holders — — —
Total 2,450,220 $ 52.93 2,479,897
(1) Consists of 1,872,553 shares subju ect to stock options, 345,407 shares subju ect to employee share units and 232,260 shares

subju ect to director share units.
(2) Represents the weighted average exercise price of outstanding options and does not take into account outstanding share

units.
(3) Represents securities remaining availabla e for issuance under the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan. If

any awards lapsa e, expire, terminate or are canceled without issuance of shares, or shares are forfeited under any award,
then such shares will become availabla e for issuance under the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan,
hereby increasing the number of securities remaining availabla e.

ITEM 13 – CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS, RELATED TRANSRR ACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE,

The information included under the headings “Director Independence and Financial Literacy”, “Compensation Committee
Interlocks and Insider Participation” and “Procedurd e for Review of Related Party Transactions” in our definitive Proxy
Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the SEC under Regulation 14A within 120 days
afteff r the end of the registrant’s fiscal year) is incorporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14 – PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES

Our principal accountant is Ernst & Young, LLP (PCAOB ID: 42). The information included under the heading “Report of
the Audit Committee” in our definitive Proxy Statement for the 2024 Annual Meeting of Stockholders (to be filed with the
SEC under Regulation 14A within 120 days afteff r the end of the registrant’s fiscal year) required by this Item 14 is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15 – EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES,

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K:

1. Financial Statements of the Company

Form 10-K
Page Number

The following consolidated financial statements of A. O. Smith Corporation are included in Item 8:

Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2023 and 2022 30

For each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2023:
- Consolidated Statement of Earnings 31
- Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Earnings 31
- Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 32
- Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity 33

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 34-58

2. Financial Statement Schedules

Schedule II—Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts 67

Schedules not included have been omitted because they are not applicable.

3. Exhibits - see the Index to Exhibits on pages 64-65 of this report. Each management contract or compensatory plan
or arrangement required to be filed as an exhibit to this report on Form 10-K are listed as Exhibits 10(a) through
10(p) in the Index to Exhibits.

Pursuant to the requirements of Rule 14a-3(b)(10) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, we will,
upon request and upon payment of a reasonabla e fee not to exceed the rate at which such copies are availabla e from
the SEC, furnish copies to our security holders of any exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits.
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INDEX TO EXHIBITS

(3)(i) Restated Certificff ate of Incorporation of A. O. Smith Corporation as amended through April 11, 2016,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3i(b) in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2016.

(3)(ii) By-laws of A. O. Smith Corporation as amended October 10, 2019, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
3.1 in the current report on Form 8-K dated October 16, 2019.

(4) (a) Restated Certificff ate of Incorporation of A. O. Smith Corporation as amended through April 11, 2016,
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3i(b) in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended
March 31, 2016.

(b) Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of December 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith
Corporation, A. O. Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith International Holdings B.V., and the financial
institutions and agents party thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in the current report on Form
8-K dated December 12, 2012.

(c) Amendment No. 1 dated as of December 15, 2016, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated
as of December 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith Corporation, A. O Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith
International Holdings B.V., and the financial institutt ions and agents party thereto, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4(c) in the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2016.

(d) Amendment No. 2 dated as of April 1, 2021, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
December 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith Corporation, A. O Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith
International Holdings B.V., and the financial institutt ions and agents party thereto, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2021.

(e) Amendment No. 3 dated as of May 1, 2023, to the Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of
December 12, 2012, among A. O. Smith Corporation, A. O Smith Enterprises Ltd., A. O. Smith
International Holdings B.V., and the financial institutt ions and agents party thereto, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 in the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2023.

(f) The corporation has instruments that define the rights of holders of long-term debt that are not being filed
with this Registration Statement in reliance upon Item 601(b)(4)(iii) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant
agrees to furnish to the SEC, upon request, copies of these instruments.

(10) Material Contracts

(a) A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit A of the Proxy
Statement filed on March 6, 2020 for the 2020 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

(b) A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Life Insurance Plan, as amended January 1, 2009, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(b) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

(c) A. O. Smith Nonqualified Deferred Compensation Plan, adopted December 1, 2008, incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10(c) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2008.

(d) A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Supplu emental Pension Plan, as amended January 1, 2009, incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10(d) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31,
2008.

(e) A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.1 of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2012 (for grants
between Februar ry 2012 and January 2016).

(f) A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10 of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2016 (for grants
between Februar ry 2016 and January 2021).

(g) A.O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement, incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10(h) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2020 (for
grants between Februarr ry 2021 and January 2022).

Exhibit
Number Descriptionp
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(h) A.O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement (International),
incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10(i) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2020 (for grants between Februar ry 2021 and Januaryrr 2022).

(i) A.O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement incorporated by reference
to exhibit 10(i) of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021 (for grants
between Februar ry 2022 and January 2023).

(j) A.O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement incorporated by reference
to exhibit 10(j)(( of the annual report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2021
(International) (for grants between Februar ry 2022 and January 2023).

(k) A. O. Smith Corporation Executive Incentive Compensation Award Agreement (Acceptance Certificff ates
and Terms and Conditions) incorporated by reference to exhibit 10(k) of the annual report on Form 10-K
for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2022 (forff grants afteff r Februar ry 2023).

(l) A. O. Smith Corporation Senior Leadership Severance Plan, incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of
the quarterly report for Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2009.

(m) Form of A. O. Smith Corporation Special Retention Award Agreement, incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 of the quarterly report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2011.

(n) Stockholder Agreement dated as of December 9, 2008, between A. O. Smith Corporation and each Smith
Investment Company stockholder who becomes a signatory thereto, incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.3 of the current report on Form 8-K dated December 9, 2008.

(o) Summary of Directors’ Compensation incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of the quarterly report on
Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2021.

(p) Recoupment Policy for Incentive Compensation dated October 9, 2023 (“Clawback”).

(21) Subsu idiaries.

(23) Consent of Independent Registered Publu ic Accounting Firm.

(31.1) Certificff ation by the Chief Executive Offiff cer, pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, dated
Februarr ry 13, 2024.

(31.2) Certificff ation by the Executive Vice-President and Chief Financial Offiff cer, pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act, dated Februar ry 13, 2024.

(32.1) Written Statement of the Chief Executive Offiff cer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

(32.2) Written Statement of the Chief Financial Offiff cer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350.

(101) The following materials from A. O. Smith Corporation’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended December 31, 2023 are filed herewith, formatted in XBRL (Extensive Business Reporting
Language): (i) the Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, (ii) the Consolidated
Statement of Earnings for the three years ended December 31, 2023, (iii) the Consolidated Statement of
Comprehensive Earnings for the three years ended December 31, 2023, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of
Cash Flows for the three years ended December 31, 2023, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’
Equity for the three years ended December 31, 2023 and (vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements.

Exhibit
Number Descriptionp
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused
this report to be signed on behalf of the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

A. O. SMITH CORPORATRR ION

Date: Februarr ry 13, 2024 By: /s/ Kevin J. Wheeler
Kevin J. Wheeler

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offiff cer

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below as of Februar ry 13,
2024 by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.

Name and Title Signati ure

KEVIN J. WHEELER /s/ Kevin J. Wheeler
Director Kevin J. Wheeler
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offiff cer

CHARLES T. LAUBER /s/ Charles T. Lauber
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer Charles T. Lauber

BENJAMIN A. OTCHERE /s/ Benjamin A. Otchere
Vice President and Controller Benjamin A. Otchere

RONALD D. BROWN /s/ Ronald D. Brown
Director Ronald D. Brown

VICTORIA M. HOLT /s/ Victoria M. Holt
Director Victoria M. Holt

DR. ILHAM KADRI /s/ Dr. Ilham Kadri
Director Dr. Ilham Kadri

MICHAEL M. LARSEN /s/ Michael M. Larsen
Director Michael M. Larsen

CHRISTOPHER L. MAPES /s/ Christopher L. Mapea s
Director Christopher L. Mapea s

AJITA G. RAJENDRA /RR s/ Ajita G. Rajea ndra
Director Ajita G. Rajea ndra

MARK D. SMITH /s/ Mark D. Smith
Director Mark D. Smith

IDELLE K. WOLF /s/ Idelle K. Wolf
Director Idelle K. Wolf
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A. O. SMITH CORPORATRR ION

SCHEDULE II - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
(Dollars in millions)

Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021

Description

Balance at
Beginning
of Year

Charged to
Costs and
Expenses

Acquisition
of

Businesses Deducd tions

Balance at
End of
Year

2023:
Valuation allowance for trade and notes
receivabla e $ 9.5 $ 1.1 $ — $ (0.5) $ 10.1
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets 8.3 3.4 — — 11.7

2022:
Valuation allowance for trade and notes
receivabla e $ 9.5 $ 0.6 $ — $ (0.6) $ 9.5
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets 7.1 1.2 — — 8.3

2021:
Valuation allowance for trade and notes
receivabla e $ 5.6 $ 4.2 $ 0.8 $ (1.1) $ 9.5
Valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets 13.0 — — (5.9) 7.1
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Exhibit 21

SUBSIDIARIES: The following lists all subsu idiaries and affiff liates of A. O. Smith Corporation.

Name of Subsu idiary
Jurisdiction in Which

Incorporated

Water Tec of Tucson, Inc. Arizona

A. O. Smith Water Treatment (North America), Inc. Delaware

A. O. Smith Water Treatment (North America) Holdings, Inc. Delaware

SICO Acquisition, LLC Delaware

Takagi - A. O. Smith Tankless Water Heater Company LLC Delaware

Atlantic Filter Corporation Florida

Mineral-Right, Inc. Kansas

American Water Heater Company Nevada

Hague Europe, LLC Ohio

Lochinvar, LLC Tennessee

State Industries, LLC. Tennessee

A. O. Smith Holdings (Barbar dos) SRL Barbados

A. O. Smith Enterprises Ltd. Canada

A. O. Smith (China) Environmental Products Co., Ltd. China

A. O. Smith (China) Investment Co., Ltd. China

A. O. Smith (China) Water Heater Co., Ltd. China

A. O. Smith (China) Water Products Co., Ltd. China

A. O. Smith (Shanghai) HVAC Co., Ltd. China

A. O. Smith (Wuhan) HVAC Co., Ltd. China

A. O. Smith L’eau chaude S.a.r.l. France

Waterbosr s Europe, SARL France

A. O. Smith (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong SAR

A. O. Smith India Water Products Private Limited India

Products de Agua, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico

A.O. Smith Holdings I B.V. The Netherlands

A.O. Smith Holdings II B.V. The Netherlands

A.O. Smith Holdings III B.V. The Netherlands

A.O. Smith International Holdings B.V. The Netherlands

A.O. Smith Products v.o.f.ff The Netherlands

A.O. Smith Water Products Company B.V. The Netherlands

A. O. Smith Water FZE United Arab Emirates

Lochinvar Limited United Kingdom

A. O. Smith Vietnam Company Limited Vietnam
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Exhibit 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-144950 and 333-170436)
pertaining to the A. O. Smith Combined Incentive Compensation Plan of our reports dated Februar ry 13, 2024, with respect to
the consolidated financial statements and schedule of A. O. Smith Corporation, and the effeff ctiveness of internal control over
finff ancial reporting of A. O. Smith Corporation, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31,
2023.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

Februarr ry 13, 2024
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

I, Kevin J. Wheeler, certifyff that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of A. O. Smith Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,ff and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifyiff ng offiff cer and I are responsible for establa ishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedurd es (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedurd es, or caused such disclosure controls and procedurd es to be
designed under our supeu rvision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsu idiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supeu rvision, to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposr es in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effeff ctiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedurd es and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effeff ctiveness of the disclosure controls and procedurd es, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affeff cted, or is reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying offiff cer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonabla y likely to adversely affeff ct the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: Februarr ry 13, 2024

/s/ Kevin J. Wheeler
Kevin J. Wheeler
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offiff cer
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Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

I, Charles T. Lauber, certifyff that;

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of A. O. Smith Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements and other financial information included in this report, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,ff and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifyiff ng offiff cer and I are responsible for establa ishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedurd es (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedurd es, or caused such disclosure controls and procedurd es to be
designed under our supeu rvision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsu idiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supeu rvision, to provide reasonabla e assurance regarding the reliabia lity of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposr es in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effeff ctiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedurd es and presented in this report
our conclusions about the effeff ctiveness of the disclosure controls and procedurd es, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any changes in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual
report) that has materially affeff cted, or is reasonabla y likely to materially affeff ct, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying offiff cer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors:

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonabla y likely to adversely affeff ct the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in
the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

Date: Februarr ry 13, 2024

/s/ Charles T. Lauber
Charles T. Lauber
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer
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Exhibit 32.1

Certificff ation Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of A. O. Smith Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”). I, Kevin J.
Wheeler, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offiff cer of the Company, certify,ff pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted
pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: Februarr ry 13, 2024

/s/ Kevin J. Wheeler
Kevin J. Wheeler
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Offiff cer

This certificff ation accompanies this Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be
deemed filed by the Company for purposr es of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by
the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staffff upon request.
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Exhibit 32.2

Certificff ation Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
As Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of A. O. Smith Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2023, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”). I, Charles T.
Lauber, Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer of the Company, certify,ff pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as
adopted pursuant to §906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of the Company.

Date: Februarr ry 13, 2024

/s/ Charles T. Lauber
Charles T. Lauber
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial Offiff cer

This certificff ation accompanies this Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be
deemed filed by the Company for purposr es of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by
the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staffff upon request.
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CORPORATE LOCHINVAR

INTERNATIONAL

NORTH AMERICA WATER HEATING

NORTH AMERICA WATER TREATMENT

We are proud of the recognition we received in 2023 for our products and our work
environment. These awards are a reflection of our commitment to living our values.

2023 Notable Honors

Work For in Construction & Manufacturing
Ranks companies based on employee perceptions of pay and benefits, 
work/life balance, job/company stability, physical/psychological 
comfort, belongingness, and professional development.

USA Today America’s Climate Leaders
Recognizes companies committed to reducing greenhouse 
gas emissions.

FacilitiesNet Vision Award Winner –
Plumbing Category – Gold – Veritus™ Air Source
Commercial Heat Pump Water Heater
Honors innovation and excellence in products that contribute to the
efficient and profitable operations and management of commercial 
buildings in the U.S. 

ACHR Dealer Design Awards – Gold –
FTXL™ 1.0 Commercial Boiler
Recognizes this year’s most innovative and high-performing products.

Chicago Athenaeum 2023 GOOD DESIGN Award
The Lochinvar Veritus™ Air Source Commercial Heat Pump Water Heater
was selected as a winner in the building materials category.

100 Excellence Employer of China
Awarded to 100 companies whose practices have made a significant
contribution to their corporate development and people care.

China Best Employers Nationwide Top 30
Recognizes the top 30 companies who nurture an atmosphere of 
synergistic success between employers and employees. This is the 
ninth year the company has won this award.

China Best Employers for Females Top 10
Second consecutive award. Recognizes companies who are committed
to promoting the career growth and development of female employees
and creating a fair and inclusive environment for women.

India SCALE Award (Confederation of Indian 
Industry’s (CII) Supply Chain and Logistics
Excellence)
Honors outstanding performance, success and innovation
in supply chain and logistics.

India’s Most Trusted Water Heater Brand
Named in TRA’s Brand Trust Report for the fifth consecutive year.

ENERGY STAR Sustained Excellence Partner of the 
Year Award
This is the company’s fifth consecutive ENERGY STAR Partner of the
Year Award, and its third time being honored as a Sustained Excellence
Partner from the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.

Good Housekeeping 2023 Home Reno Awards – 
A. O. Smith Signature 900 Smart Hybrid Electric 
Heat Pump Water Heater
The top picks for the best products and services to help customers 
create their dream home.

Integrated Home Competition – Honorable Mention 
(Voltex® AL Heat Pump Water Heater)
Identifies and supports newly available products that work to achieve
a vision of a comfortable, convenient and connected home.

Chicago Athenaeum 2023 GOOD DESIGN Award
The A. O. Smith Voltex® AL Smart Hybrid Electric Heat Pump Water 
Heater was selected as a winner in the building materials category.

Eco Excellence Award –
Aquasana Clean Water Machine
Family-focused program that recognizes exceptionalism in sustainability 
and wellness. This is Aquasana’s eighth consecutive award.

Good Housekeeping Best Kitchen Gear Awards –
Aquasana Claryum® Direct Connect
Recognizes this year’s most innovative and high-performing products.



Board of Directors

1 Audit Committee     2 Nominating & Governance Committee     3 Personnel & Compensation Committee

Ronald D. Brown
Personnel & Compensation Committee  
– Chairperson 
Milacron, Inc.
– Retired Chairman & CEO

Elected 2001 2, 3

Michael M. Larsen
Illinois Tool Works, Inc.
– SVP & CFO

Elected 2021 1

Victoria M. Holt
Nominating & Governance Committee
– Chairperson 
Proto Labs, Inc.
– Retired Director
– Retired President & CEO

Elected 2021 2, 3

Kevin J. Wheeler
A. O. Smith Corporation
– Chairman of the Board
– President & CEO

Elected 2017

Ajita G. Rajendra
A. O. Smith Corporation
– Retired Executive Chairman

Elected 2011

Christopher L. Mapes
Lincoln Electric Holdings, Inc.
– Executive Chairman 

Elected 2023 1

Ilham Kadri, PhD
Syensqo
– Director
– CEO

Elected 2016 2, 3

Mark D. Smith
Strattec Security Corporation
– Retired Business Manager

Elected 2001 2, 3

Idelle K. Wolf
Audit Committee 
– Chairperson 
Barnes Distribution
– Retired President

Elected 2005 1



Senior Leadership

Joshua C. Greene
Vice President
– Government, Regulatory

and Industry Affairs

Samuel M. Carver
Senior Vice President 
– Global Operations

Charles T. Lauber
Executive Vice President 
– Chief Financial Officer

S. Melissa Scheppele
Senior Vice President
– Chief Information Officer

James F. Stern
Executive Vice President 
– General Counsel and Secretary

David R. Warren
Senior Vice President
President and General Manager
– North America Water Heating

Kevin J. Wheeler
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Helen E. Gurholt
Vice President 
– Investor Relations and Financial

Planning and Analysis

Mark A. Petrarca
Senior Vice President 
– Human Resources and 

Public Affairs

Benjamin A. Otchere
Vice President and Controller

Jack Qiu, PhD
Senior Vice President
President
– A. O. Smith China

Robert J.
Heideman, PhD
Senior Vice President
– Chief Technology Officer

Parag Kulkarni
Senior Vice President 
– International
President 
– A. O. Smith India Water

Products Private Limited

Stephen D. O’Brien
Senior Vice President
President
– Lochinvar, LLC

D. Samuel Karge
Senior Vice President
President
– North America Water Treatment

Paul J. Jones
Vice President
– Corporate Development 
    and Strategy



11270 West Park Place
P.O. Box 245008
Milwaukee, WI 53224-9508

414.359.4000

www.aosmith.com

WORLD HEADQUARTERS

Milwaukee, Wisconsin

NORTH AMERICA

Appleton, Wisconsin

Ashland City, Tennessee

Austin, Texas

Charlotte, North Carolina

Ciudad Juárez, Chihuahua

Cookeville, Tennessee

El Paso, Texas

Fergus, Ontario, Canada

Florence, Kentucky

Franklin, Tennessee

Groveport, Ohio

Haltom City, Texas

Johnson City, Tennessee

Knoxville, Tennessee

Las Vegas, Nevada

Lebanon, Tennessee

McBee, South Carolina

Montréal, Québec, Canada 

Nashville, Tennessee

Phillipsburg, Kansas

Pottstown, Pennsylvania 

Rancho Cucamonga, California 

Stratford, Ontario, Canada

Tucson, Arizona

West Palm Beach, Florida

EUROPE & MIDDLE EAST

Banbury, United Kingdom

Bourges, France

Dubai, United Arab Emirates

Lyon, France

Veldhoven, the Netherlands

ASIA & PACIFIC

Bengaluru, India

Hanoi, Vietnam

Hong Kong, SAR

Nanjing, China
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